

Homeless Management Information System / Coordinated Entry Committee Monday, July 10, 2023 1:00 p.m. – 3:00 p.m.

Butte County Employment and Social Services – Zoom Virtual Meeting

Zoom Link: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88329463030?pwd=VEdQZ2NkTCtNSTc5VTZIT1hJRV13Zz09 Phone: (669) 900-9128 Meeting ID: 883 2946 3030 Passcode: 513655

HMIS/CE COMMITTEE MEMBERS (CHO Administrator, or designee):

Angie Little, HACB	Keesha Hills, OSCIA	Karen Ramirez, True North Housing Alliance
Codie McCormack, Caminar	Shelly Watson, Jesus Center Tracey	Lynann Pillay, Oroville Rescue Mission
Nancy Jorth, Youth for Change	Gilliham, Butte 211	Sara Sweaney, Nation's Finest
Susan Wilson, Safe Space	Rocio Nakao, BCDBH	Nick Fashing, DESS APS
Stephan Spirk, CAA	Carolina Cruz, Catalyst	Meagan Smith, Northern Circle Indian Housing
Yesenia Gallgos, CHAT	Debbie Villasenor, Consultant	Authority
Cynthia Pesheck, Ampla	Elisa Rawlinson, DESS HHOME	Rayna Bryson, DESS
Cathryn Carhuf, Home & Heart	Jaymee McLaughlin, CUSD	Cecily Kishbaugh, VECTORS
Trish Pittman, Health Net	Kristopher Kuntz, Anthem Blue Cross	
	—	

First Chairperson: Elisa Rawlinson, DESS HH

Second Chairperson: Sarah Frohock, BCDBH

AGENDA

1. Call to Order	Elisa Rawlinson
 Approval of Minutes - ACTION a. HMIS/CES Committee Meeting, October 2022 b. HMIS/CES Committee Meeting, November 2022 c. HMIS/CES Committee Meeting, February 2023 d. HMIS/CES Committee Meeting, April 2023 e. HMIS/CES Committee Meeting, May 2023 	All
3. Introductions/Agency Updates	Elisa Rawlinson
4. HMIS Lead Responsibilities and CHO Admin Responsibilities	Elisa Rawlinson
 Training a. Updating Assigned Case Manager 	Elisa Rawlinson
6. Committee Responsibilities and Future Planning	
7. Next Meeting: Monday, August 14, 2023; 1:00 – 3:00 p.m.	Elisa Rawlinson
8. Adjourn	All

Butte Countywide Homeless Continuum of Care

BUTTE COUNTYWIDE HOMELESS CONTINUUM OF CARE HMIS/CES COMBINED COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES

MONDAY October 10, 2022 at 1pm-3pm Zoom Meeting

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT:

Debbie Villasenor, Housing Consultant Elisa Rawlinson, DESS Housing & Homeless Angie Little, Housing Authority – Butte County Sarah Frohock, BCDBH Karen Ramirez, True North Housing Codie McCormack, Caminar Nick Fashing, DESS APS Nancy Jorth, Youth for Change Susan Wilson, Safe Space Stephan Spirk, CAA Josiah Vasey, Butte/Glenn 211

COMMITTEE MEMBERS NOT PRESENT:

Carolina Cruz, Catalyst Tracey Gilliham, Butte 211 Cynthia Pesheck, Ampla Shelly Watson, Jesus Center Keesha Hills, OSCIA Rick Jackson, BCDBH Annie Terry, Oroville Rescue Mission Yesenia Gallegos, CHAT Sara Sweaney, Nation's Finest Meagan Smith, Northern Circle IHA Meagan Smith, NCIHA Amanda Gaylord, CHAT Laurie Maloney, Point of Contact Deborah Taylor, VA Melissa Jamison, United Way

OTHER ATTENDEES:

Pahua Thao, DESS HHOME Wendy Lo, DESS HHOME Ian Clement DESS HHOME Isabel Alaniz, DESS HHOME Shelly Storkan, BCDBH Lorena Reed, BCDBH Liz Vega, JC Pallet Shelter Kaitlin Sherrill, DESS HHOME Lynann Pilley, Oroville Rescue Mission

Recording Secretary: Lisa Angle

1. CALL TO ORDER:

Meeting called to order by Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson at 1:04pm. The agenda for 10/10/22 is dated 10/11/22.

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson added "New Question to CE" under Item 4 Updates to HMIS as Item d.

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES- ACTION

a. HMIS/CES Committee Meeting July 11, 2022

Motion to approve HMIS/CES Committee Meeting Minutes as written. Motion: Debbie Villasenor Second: Sarah Frohock Opposed: None Abstained: None

3. INTRODUCTIONS/AGENCY UPDATES:

Introductions were made by everyone in attendance.

The following updates were provided:

~Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson announced she attended the BIT Focus conference in Las Vegas with Briana Harvey - Butterfield, Pahua Thao and Erickson Montes. The conference was filled with a lot of different classes and workshops. Managed to have at least one team member in every workshops or classes. Came back with a whole booklet full of ideas and things needing to be done. There was a lot of information provided at the conference regarding many different aspects to the HMIS system.

~Angie Little, HACB announced the HA is going through a software conversion and stressing everyone out. Due to the software change everything has slowed down but trying to overcome. Right now the waiting lists are temporarily closed until the software is up and running. Once it is up and running the project based voucher waiting list will be opened and that includes the referrals for No Place Like Home Creekside Property.

~Sarah Frohock BCDBH announced trying to figure out data collection for No Place Like Home and how to collect the date information within HMIS.

~Susan Wilson, Safe Space announced the cooling center should be closed now.

~Stephan Spirk, CAA announced received a grant to fund case management at the CAA and Esplanade house.

~Lynann Pilley, ORM announced Oroville Rescue Mission will have their annual banquet on October 20, 2022. - flyer's to be sent today.

~Nancy Jorth, YFCannounced National Homeless Youth Month next month in November. There will be a lot of activities planned for next month. List of activities to be sent to Elisa Rawlinson.

~Nick Fashing DESS APS announced just received notice of the new allocation for Home Safe which runs through fiscal year 2024 - 2025 in the \$629, 264 more information to follow.

~Wendy Lo, DESS HH announces an email will be sent out to the entire CoC on a very important event coming up.

4. UPDATES TO HMIS:

a. User Agreement -

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson stated there have been a few updates to HMIS and emails are coming out to everyone of when those updates have been added. As of January 2020 Butte County DESS has taken over as HMIS lead agency and at that time there had already been some HMIS users. Since the implementation of HMIS starting in 2015 User Policy Agreements were completed for all HMIS users and not all HMIS User Policy Agreements were available when HMIS was switched over to Butte County DESS as the HMIS lead agency. All new users starting in 2020 have been signing the User Policy Agreement. A few weeks ago when browsing the Clarity Training Site it was discovered there is a way in Clarity/HMIS for all users of HMIS users now have a User Policy Agreement and have it saved in the user profile. Elisa states all HMIS users now have a User Policy Agreement and it is set up in Clarity to update once a year. The process is still to have new users sign the User Policy Agreement before they start training and when the new user signs into the training site the new user will have to sign the User Policy Agreement again. When the new user logs into the live site the User Policy Agreement will need to be signed again and then will not need to be updated for 1 year. All HMIS users will be required to complete/sign a User Policy Agreement once a year.

b. Uploading Informed Consent New Client -

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson stated the Informed Consent is a form developed and approved by the Committee, as well as, being approved by the CoC. The process approved was to have the completed Informed Consent uploaded and attached to a client's profile. The process has changed for Informed Consents and now a signed Informed Consent is required to be uploaded and attached to a client's profile. This so all agencies are able to view the Informed Consent in HMIS with a way to track expiration dates for the Informed Consent. The HMIS system has been updated to not allow a new client to be added without an Informed Consent being uploaded and attached to the profile. There is no longer an option for HMIS users to use "verbal consent" for clients, a signed Informed Consent will be needed to be uploaded and attached to the profile. If a client calls in and speaks to staff member, the Informed Consent form has an option on page 2 which allows for the staff member to obtain a verbal consent by phone. However, the staff member will need to complete the Informed Consent as indicated on the form and upload/attach form to profile. Elisa demonstrated this in the HMIS training site.

c. Informed Consent Banner -

If any user navigates to a client profile and an informed consent is going to be expiring a notification will pop up. This is known as a banner. This notification will notify you when the informed consent will expire. Elisa showed what the banner looks like in the HMIS training site.

d. New Questions to CE -

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson stated there are new questions added to the CE system to assist in helping those individuals who are case managers connect with public housing who are pulling off of the CE list. The question added is "Do you have an active Section 8, Emergency Housing Voucher or VASH Voucher?" Elisa walked the committee through the steps in HMIS training site as it relates to new question and the CE list. Brief discussion held on CE list.

5. HMIS/CES TRAINING/OFFICE HOURS:

a. Uploading Files to Client Profile/Program Level -

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson reminded the committee if there is information needing to be uploaded into HMIS client profile there are 2 different ways to do this. Elisa reviewed the steps with the committee in HMIS training site.

6. AT RISK CHRONIC HOMELESSNESS - ACTION

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson stated in the past the committee has discussed the need for the At Risk of Chronic Homelessness Option for priority points. This is a State of California thing and not a HUD thing. We have agreed within our meetings and voted that we would have 4 options for priority points. We have At Risk for Chronic Homelessness, Chronically Homeless, Households with Children and Unaccompanied Homeless Youth. A client cannot be both At Risk for Chronic Homelessness and Chronically Homeless it would need to be one or the other. At Risk for Chronic Homelessness will have 2 priority points. The Households with Children and Unaccompanied Homeless Youth will be 1 point each. The most an individual would be able to get is 4 points. The HCD definition of Chronic Homelessness is a lot and so a flow chart has been created to assist in identifying if a client meets the criteria of Chronic Homelessness. The flow chart was included in the agenda packet. Elisa walked through each step of the flow chart and explained each step with the committee. The flow chart will need to be approved by the committee and move on for review and approval by the CoC. There will need to be training on this process due to it being a piece of the priority point system.

a. Motion to approve the Flow Chart for At Risk of Chronic Homelessness (No Place Like Home HCD Definition)

Motion: Sarah Frohock Second: Josiah Vasey Opposed: None Abstained: None

7. NEXT MEETING:

Monday November 7, 2022 AT 1:00PM - 3:00PM.

8. ADJOURNMENT:

Meeting adjourned at 2:32pm.

Butte Countywide Homeless Continuum of Care

BUTTE COUNTYWIDE HOMELESS CONTINUUM OF CARE HMIS/CES COMBINED COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES

MONDAY November 7, 2022 at 1pm-3pm Zoom Meeting

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT:

Debbie Villasenor, Housing Consultant Elisa Rawlinson, DESS Housing & Homeless Angie Little, Housing Authority – Butte County Meagan Smith, Northern Circle IHA Karen Ramirez, True North Housing Codie McCormack, Caminar Yesenia Gallegos, CHAT Keesha Hills, OSCIA Tracey Gilliham, Butte 211 Carolina Cruz, Catalyst Sarah Frohock, BCDBH

COMMITTEE MEMBERS NOT PRESENT:

Susan Wilson, Safe Space Stephan Spirk, CAA Cynthia Pesheck, Ampla Shelly Watson, Jesus Center Nick Fashing, DESS APS Rick Jackson, BCDBH Nancy Jorth, Youth for Change Annie Terry, Oroville Rescue Mission Sara Sweaney, Nation's Finest

OTHER ATTENDEES:

Javi Pineda, HACB Josiah Vasey, Butte/Glenn 211 Ian Clement DESS HHOME Isabel Alaniz, DESS HHOME Shelly Storkan, BCDBH Lorena Reed, BCDBH Hilary Crosby, Safe Space Liz Vega, Jesus Center Susan??, Safe Space

1. CALL TO ORDER:

Meeting called to order by Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson at 1:03pm. The agenda for 11/7/22 is dated 10/11/22.

2. INTRODUCTIONS/AGENCY UPDATES:

Introductions made by everyone in attendance.

The following updates were provided:

- Tracey Gilliham, Butte/Glenn 211 announced they are getting ready to launch at the beginning of the year into California versus Hate with more information to come. The California versus Hate is a program to support Hate crimes.
- Angie Little. HACB announced currently changing software programs and are dealing with a lot of issues. If any duplicate payments have been sent to an agency or haven't received payment let her know. Currently processing project based for Creekside 62 plus is set to go online in January and working closely with CHAT on this project. Question came up to Angie regarding will Creekside project be opening up again for applicants. Angie responded due to issues with software change and other issues the Creekside has not been opened up again, however, will open up again real soon with an update of when it opens to be provided.
- Yesenia Gallegos, CHAT announces an update on how CHAT is not using paper referrals. Referrals are being picked up from the Coordinated Entry and clients will need to call 211 to get entered into Coordinated Entry
- Josiah Vasey Butte/Glenn 211 working on learning and training on the California versus Hate program but nothing to share yet.
- Hilary Crosby, Safe Space announced gearing up for Winter Shelter and it looks like it will open up on December 18, 2022 and run hopefully through February 26. 2023. Still putting together schedule to where the shelter will be during those weeks and get those schedules over to 211 and everyone as soon as there is a schedule. The biggest thing is the intake location fell through and if anyone knows of a anyone/location whom would be able to accommodate in the downtown Chico area from about 5pm to 7pm let Hilary know. Winter Shelter entails putting volunteer schedules together and stuff and should be put together by the middle of the month.
- Carolina Cruz, CATALYST announced currently hiring for 2 positions for Housing Coordinator based out of Chico Drop In Center and a Weekend Advocate based out of Shelter. One vacancy in the Transitional Housing Program at the Cottages 2 BR 1 BA in a private location. The vacancy is being advertised on the website and through social media.

3. UPDATES COMING TO HMIS

a. Coordinated Entry Events

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson stated there are some updates coming to HMIS and these are Coordinated Entry Events. Included in the packet is some information provided by BIT Focus and they have built the Coordinated Entry Events into HMIS. There are 2 ways the Coordinated Entry Events can be captured and this is something that has come along with the 2022 HMIS updates. There has only been 1 Coordinated Entry Event in HMIS being used sparingly by the community. The community will start using the 2 ways the Coordinated Entry Events built into HMIS to capture information starting January 1, 2023. This means massive trainings are going to be needed. Anyone who uses Coordinated Entry or/and enrolls individuals into Coordinated Entry is going to have to attend a training on Coordinated Entry Events.

There are 2 ways Coordinated Entry Events can be tracked in the system, currently we are going to be tracking everything manually. A handout was provided in the agenda packet which states "Manual events will now be configured and recorded within a program-level Events tab instead of through the services. "There is also inferred events "Inferred events can now be enabled or disabled at the program setup level" Once the referral system is in place in Coordinated Entry some of the manual events will be switched to inferred events. Elisa went over the difference of a manual event and inferred event. Elisa demonstrated and explained the process in Coordinated Entry training site. Elisa reviewed and explained the 18 Coordinated Entry Event Category Names listed on the handout with the committee. Elisa will be reaching out to HMIS users and the CHOs by email to schedule trainings. Brief discussion held on the Coordinated Entry Event Category Names and the process.

4. HMIS/CES TRAINING/OFFICE HOUR: a. Client Calendar

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson stated we like to add new functionality and poke around the HMIS/CES to see what the system has available to benefit clients. Also to see what can be done in the HMIS/CES system to coordinate and communicate with other agencies to better serve clients. Elisa demonstrates in HMIS training site a calendar functionality that would benefit the clients when scheduling appointments and also how to print the list of scheduled appointments for client. Staff calendar in HMIS can be linked to staff outlook calendar. The plan is to have all Housing Navigators to start using the client calendar in HMIS to schedule appointments. All agencies are asked to use the calendar to schedule appointments for clients. This would help if the client calls 211 the client can be reminded of upcoming appointments. The list would be available to print out by any agency to be given to the client and assist in helping the client in showing up for appointments. Brief discussion held on the HMIS calendar and the potential benefits to clients. Elisa will be sending out information to HMIS users on how to us the calendar in HMIS and a quicken video will be uploaded into the HMIS training site.

5. LSA:

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson stated the first LSA has been uploaded. The amount of errors and warnings received this year is significantly less than last year. The data entry into HMIS as a community which includes training, emails being sent and constant harping is working. There are still things in the LSA needing to be worked out and cleaned up but as a community the date entry in HMIS is getting better. Elisa explained what LSA stands for and what the LSA is used for. Link information for additional information on LSA is included in the LSA handout provided in the agenda packet. Reach out Elisa with any questions or need assistance.

6. CHO MOUs:

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson stated the current CHO MOU's expire on 12/31/22. The process has been started in writing the MOU's and being reviewed by a few people. Once the reviews are completed the hope is to have the MOUs out to everyone within the next couple of weeks for signature. There are a few changes to the MOU's so make sure to review the MOUs thoroughly. There have been emails sent out to all HMIS agencies asking for the name and title of the head of the agency, along with the agency address and CHO information. If any agency has not responded to the email make sure to respond as

soon as possible. There will be a few new agencies onboarding into the HMIS system at the beginning of the year and there will be new programs being added in the HMIS system. One of the new agencies is Chico Unified School District.

7. OPEN SYSTEM AND INFORMED CONSENT – DISCUSSION:

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson stated over the last couple of months in reviewing the HMIS system it was noticed there were some agencies and some programs locking services in HMIS. What this does is hides the program in HMIS to other agencies to view and this goes against the purpose of an open HMIS system. being assisted by the local Continuum. The more data and the better data entered in HMIS the better outcomes for clients, this includes getting clients into housing and off the streets. The better the client outcomes as a continuum the more likely to maintain the current funding and bring in more funding for more programs.

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson gave a history and background on the ROI process as it comes to our clients and providing services to clients. The ROI process has the potential to take a long time and could prolong the time it would take to provide services to clients. Working with an open system and having informed consent from the client allows for agencies to access information quicker and provide services to the client sooner.

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson stated per HUD clients can be entered into HMIS without the clients permission but to share client information with other agencies the client needs to provide permission. This is why the informed consent has been created and is being used. The CoC as a whole wants an open system in HMIS to be able to share information with other agencies for effective case management for the client.

Informed consents are thoroughly reviewed with the client and the client is aware their information will be shared with other agencies. The client makes an informed decision on sharing their information with other agencies.

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson stated HMIS services and programs need to stay unlocked. The information is only seen by HMIS participating agencies

*Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson announced the Navigation Center is now open in South County and available. On Grand opening day there were people coming in and requesting services. The center is using HMIS and are using a very specialized system in HMIS for the Navigation Center. Any questions send an email to HMIS help.

8. NEXT MEETING:

Monday December 5, 2022 AT 1:00PM – 3:00PM.

9. ADJOURNMENT:

Meeting adjourned at 2:41pm.

Butte Countywide Homeless Continuum of Care

BUTTE COUNTYWIDE HOMELESS CONTINUUM OF CARE HMIS/CES COMBINED COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES

MONDAY February 6, 2023 at 1pm-3pm Zoom Meeting

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT:

Debbie Villasenor, Housing Consultant Elisa Rawlinson, DESS Housing & Homeless Rachel DeLeon, DESS Nick Fashing, DESS APS Angie Little, Housing Authority – Butte County Nancy Jorth, Youth For Change Shelly Watson, Jesus Center Meagan Smith, Northern Circle IHA Karen Ramirez, True North Housing Codie McCormack, Caminar Yesenia Gallegos, CHAT

COMMITTEE MEMBERS NOT PRESENT:

Susan Wilson, Safe Space Stephan Spirk, CAA Cynthia Pesheck, Ampla Keesha Hills, OSCIA Tracey Gilliham, Butte 211 Rick Jackson, BCDBH Carolina Cruz, Catalyst Annie Terry, Oroville Rescue Mission Sara Sweaney, Nation's Finest

OTHER ATTENDEES:

Javi Pineda, HACB Patricia Hironimus, DESS HHOME Samantha Raschka, BCDBH Pahua Thao, DESS HHOME Denver Nash, DESS HHOME Lorena Reed, BCDBH Shelly Storkan, BCDBH Troy McClanahan, DESS HHOME Isabel Alaniz, DESS HHOME Kaitlin Sherrill, DESS HHOME Erickson Montes DESS HHOME Ian Clement DESS HHOME Amber Benedict, CHAT Josiah Vasey, Butte/Glenn 211 Liz ??, Jesus Center

Recording Secretary: Lisa Angle

1. CALL TO ORDER:

Meeting called to order by Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson at 1:03pm.

2. INTRODUCTIONS/AGENCY UPDATES:

Introductions made by everyone in attendance.

The following updates were provided:

- Elisa Rawlinson, DESS HHOME announced the PIT is over. Still working on getting a couple agencies information into the Sheltered PIT but the PIT itself is done. Housing Services Program (HSP) through Eligibility will be entering data into HMIS which will start on June 1, 2023. When viewing profiles in HMIS you will see the HSP listed as a program with the name of the HSP worker. The waitlist for Creekside Senior Apartment Complex for clients 62 and older is open again and if you go to the HABC website the waitlist is there (website was shown) and the Section 8 waitlist is open. Seeing that other programs are pulling from the CE is amazing to see.
- Nick Fashing, DESS APS announced a new APS Social Worker has been hired which is good news because of a shortage in staff. A staff member has retired and a Social Worker was promoted to Supervisor.
- Debbie Villasenor, Consultant announced the first group of 19 seniors move into the Creekside Senior Apartments on January 23, 2023 and 6 of those residents where No Place Like Home residents. Hope to move in 17 more seniors into the complex through June. The Oroville Senior Complex is currently under construction with a few units for No Place Like Home, these units should be available sometime in July.
- Meagan Smith, NCIHA announced Northern Circle is currently working with the State to have the ESG budget approved so eventually hoteling funding will be available and once the budget is approved the funding will be available to non-Tribal members.+
- Yesenia Gallegos, CHAT announced continuing to work on in-house processes and are trying to get out to the community that CHAT is pulling heavenly from CE and excepting referrals to Yesenia's email at CHAT. Paper applications are no longer being accepted. Sheltered PIT has been completed. Sunflower program has a few members which is nice, this is a program for transitional housing into permanent housing.
- Shelly Watson, Jesus Center announced the Re-cooperative Care Program which has been a pilot program for the last 9 months or a year is now live. The Re-Cooperative Care Program is a program which houses unhoused individuals who are too well to stay in the hospital but are too sick to be out on their own. The program has a house that houses 6 individuals who are unhoused. Once an individual is sent to the house this triggers the Enloe Home Health Department and a nurse will come see individuals. The stay will trigger the DESS Housing Navigator and the Behavioral Health Department to come to the house to check in on the individual. There are 6 beds at the current house and 6 more beds will be available at the Renewal Center within the next 6 months. Currently interviewing for 2 positions the Case Coordinator and an Intake Specialist. The Re-Cooperative Care Program when it was a pilot only consisted of the Jesus Center and Enloe as partners, but now the partners are DESS, Enloe, Ampla, Behavior Health and the Jesus Center due to a big grant from the State.

- Nancy Jorth, YFC announced 6th Street and Heart program submitted the HMIS data to the Feds last week. Partnering with CHAT for some youth housing. Have had additional housing for 4 youth in a duplex by Enloe Hospital.
- Angie Little, HACB announces Section 8 is currently open with at least 3000 applications so far for both Creekside and HCV and closes February 13, 2023 at 4pm. Applications are available on the website and if anyone needs assistance call or walk in to the HACB. 213 project based units to be added in 2023. Another Senior complex in Gridley is Sunrise Village and should be on line May or June for 62 or older. Prospect View is coming on line for 39 units with 15 units for No Place Like Home and the remainder units will be filled through coordinated entry. A family complex is coming in July. In October 3 properties will be coming on line.
- Javi Pineda, HACB announced there are 2 preferences for the waiting list that are open and that is the Homeless Set Aside which is through CE referral only and the other is Family Reunification Preference for transitional housing by referral only.

3. LSA AND SPM UPDATE:

Longitunal Systems Analysis (LSA) and Systems Performance Measures (SPM) both must be uploaded and submitted to HUD. These have been completed, uploaded and submitted to HUD. Last year the LSA was needing to be submitted within 2 weeks of Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson taking over this role and there were over 200 errors needing to be corrected and this year once submitted there was less than 50. HMIS partners have been doing an excellent job and working hard in making sure all information entered into HMIS is accurate and complete. Great job to everyone and share this with everyone who enters information into HMIS.

4. INTERNAL CLIENT REFERRAL SYSTEM: a. HMIS Training/Demonstration

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson stated this referral system in HMIS is something piloted with 211 over the last few months. This referral system is only to be used by certain agencies/staff. This referral system in HMIS will get a client connected to the appropriate program for services. Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson explained and demonstrated step by step on how the referral system works in HMIS using the HMIS training Site. This HMIS referral system will expedite services to the clients, as well as, being able to track the referrals.

5. UPDATE ON CHO MOUs:

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson stated the CHO MOUs are moving along and an email has been received from General Services stating the CHO MOUs are good to go. Elisa states there a couple more things she needs to do on her end and hoping to have the MOUs in your in box within the next couple of weeks. There are a couple new agencies obtaining MOUs to be able to enter information into HMIS.

6. FULL SHARE VERSUS BASIC SHARE – DISCUSSION:

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson stated about 8 months to year ago HMIS system was not able to share information with other agencies and each agency had their own information entered into HMIS. This was detrimental to the clients needing services due to the client having to go to each agency to receive services/information and no continuity of care for the clients. The HMIS system is now able to share information with agencies. Elisa provided a handout showing the differences between full shared and basic

shared information. Elisa explained the differences between full shared and basic shared in the HMIS system. Elisa demonstrated the full shared information and the basic shared information in HMIS. Brief discussion held on the full shared/basic shared information and on notes being entered into HMIS. Access to HMIS information is confidential and staff can only access information in HMIS on a need to know basis as it pertains to their position. Elisa asks everyone to review the handout regarding basic shared/full shared information in the agenda packet and to review the HMIS training site regarding the information being either basic/full shared in HMIS and to write down any questions for the next meeting in March.

7. END USER BACKGROUND CHECKS – DISCUSSION:

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson stated this item is for discussion and no decisions on changes are being made. Currently a background check is required for all HMIS end users and the background check needs to be completed before the end user is granted access to HMIS. In the policy and procedures there is not real specification on what the background check would look like and if there is something found on the background check what would preclude someone from accessing HMIS. There needs to be a discussion and changes to the policy. Elisa further suggests if someone has been convicted of identity theft or fraud should not have access to HMIS. It is important to identify what background checks should look like and what would preclude someone from accessing HMIS. The policy needs to be able to clearing define what would preclude someone from accessing HMIS. Brief discussion held on background checks.

8. NEXT MEETING: Monday March 13, 2023 1:00pm – 3:00pm

9. ADJOURN:

Meeting adjourned at 2:47pm.

Butte Countywide Homeless Continuum of Care

BUTTE COUNTYWIDE HOMELESS CONTINUUM OF CARE HMIS/CES COMBINED COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES

MONDAY April 24, 2023 at 1pm-3pm Zoom Meeting

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT:

Debbie Villasenor, Housing Consultant Elisa Rawlinson, DESS Housing & Homeless Tracy Gillihan, 2-1-1 Help Central Shelly Watson, Jesus Center Angie Little, Housing Authority – Butte County Nancy Jorth, Youth For Change Shelly Watson, Jesus Center Meagan Smith, Northern Circle IHA Karen Ramirez, True North Housing

COMMITTEE MEMBERS NOT PRESENT:

Stephan Spirk, CAA Amanda Gaylord, CHAT Keesha Hills, OSCIA Trishalana Ott, BCDBH Annie Terry, Oroville Rescue Mission Sara Sweaney, Nation's Finest Masaki Hirayama, Veteran's Administration Joaquin Jordan, True North Housing Alliance Cecily Kishbaugh, VECTORS Rachel DeLeon, DESS Lynann Pillay, Oroville Rescue Mssion Kristopher Kuntz, Blue Cross Jaymee McLaughlin, CUSD Rick Jackson, BCDBH Carolina Cruz, Catalyst Trish Pittman, Health Net Cathryn Carhuf, Home and Heart Cynthia Pesheck, Ampla Yesenia Gallgos, CHAT Susan Wilson, Safe Space Codie McCormack, Caminar

OTHER ATTENDEES:

Annie Terry, Oroville Rescue Mission Sarah Frohock, BCDBH Samantha Raschka, BCDBH Pahua Thao, DESS HHOME Erin Murray, DESS HHOME Lorena Reed, BCDBH Shelly Storkan, BCDBH Troy McClanahan, DESS HHOME Isabel Alaniz, DESS HHOME Kaitlin Sherrill, DESS HHOME Hilary Crosby, Safe Space

Recording Secretary: Lisa Angle, DESS HHOME

ORDER OF BUSINESS:

1. CALL TO ORDER: The meeting was called to order by Chairperson Elisa Rawlinson at 1:03pm. Roll call taken

2. INTRODUCTIONS/AGENCY UPDATES:

Introductions were made by everyone in attendance.

The following updates were given:

*Nick Fashing, DESS APS announced 2 new Social Workers were hired for the Home Safe Program.

*Angie Little, HABC announced there are 2 waiting lists currently open for project based vouchers. One for Senior Sunrise in Gridley for 62 plus and the other one is Creekside for 62 plus. Next month a waiting list will be opened for Prospect View in Oroville which is a Homeless Referral Property and will be done through the Coordinated Entry Process. Information will be given at a later date.

*Hilary Crosby, Safe Space announced opened up a new office last week and it will house Case Management Staff which is funded through HHAP and HHIP. The staff is mainly street outreach and office hours are by appointment only due to staff being out in the field doing street outreach.

*Shelly Watson, Jesus Center announced the Pallet Shelter has reached its 1 year anniversary with a 1 year celebration scheduled for May.

* Javier ?? HABC, announced there is a waiting list open for project based vouchers and anyone interested can go online and check it out.

*Elisa Rawlinson announced starting today Lisa Angle, Senior Administrative Assistant will be transcribing minutes for the meetings. Clarification on the agenda the next meeting is May 8, 2023.

3. PIT AND HIC UPDATES:

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson announced the PIT and HIC have been uploaded to the HUD website and has been submitted. The hope is to have information available for the May CoC meeting.

4. TRAINING:

- a. Enrolling in Programs (Group versus Individuals)
 - i. Adding an Individual to a Program

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson states the training today will be on how to enroll an individual versus how to enroll a household into a program in HMIS. Elisa provided a step by step demonstration using the HMIS training site on how to enroll an individual into already enrolled household in the program. This included adding a newborn and adding a child who

is moving back into the household. Elisa stated on the live site it may take up to 24 hours to see the baby/child added to the household.

5. BACKGROUND CHECK POLICY UPDATE- ACTION:

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson reviewed a Proposed HMIS User Background Check Requirements Policy with the Committee. A discussion was held on the policy, the cost of a background check on employees and the importance of a background checks being obtained by individuals who are accessing the HMIS system for the safety of the individuals that are served by the HMIS System. The policy states - no prospective end user or CHO HMIS Admin will be given HMIS access if he, she or they have entered a plea of nolo contendere (no contest) or has been found guilty of any misdemeanor or felony fraud (including but not limited to identify theft), stalking, human trafficking or any related crimes – Elisa further states if someone has been found to have committed such offenses should be precluded from excessing the HMIS system.

The policy was updated with the following:

*A background check may be conducted only once for each person unless otherwise required, and the results of the background check must be retained in the employee's personnel file *through the term of their employment*.

*Background checks must be run *in accordance with State Law*.

*Background checks that come back with a criminal history should be carefully considered prior to giving an employee access to client information, if a *HMIS participating agency* is unsure if a prospective HMIS End User's criminal history.

* The "Background Check Review and Verification Statement" must be signed by the Agency's Director, *the CHO HMIS Administrator* or the Head of the HR Department.

a. **Motion** – to approve the HMIS User Background Check Requirements Policy with changes with effective date of 4/24/23.

Motion: Karen Ramirez Second: Meagan Smith Opposed: None Abstained: None

6. END USER AGREEMENT UPDATE – ACTION:

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson states the End User Agreement has not been updated since 2017. The proposed updated End User Agreement was reviewed with the committee with Elisa going through each statement with the committee. No changes were made to the end user agreement. The End User agreement is in the HMIS system and the training site so all new users will need to agree and sign when they are in the training site and enter into the HMIS live site.

b. Motion – to approve the End User Agreement as updated.

Motion: Hilary Crosby Second: Meagan Smith Opposed: None Abstained: None

7. CASE MANAGEMENT TEMPLATES – DISCUSSION

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson states there are new users/agencies entering the HMIS system and have different processes on how to enter notes into the HMIS system. It would be important to have a possible standard process for entering notes into the HMIS system. Elisa provided a Best Practices handout on writing notes listing some potential guidelines for entering notes into the HMIS system. The handout included samples of notes. Elisa asks the committee to read the handout and if possible come up with some suggestions for templates for entering notes into HMIS. Email your suggestions to HMIShelp and they will be included in the next meeting packet.

8. ADJOURNMENT: The meeting was adjourned at 2:57pm.

Butte Countywide Homeless Continuum of Care

BUTTE COUNTYWIDE HOMELESS CONTINUUM OF CARE HMIS/CES COMBINED COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES

MONDAY May 8, 2023 at 1pm-3pm Zoom Meeting

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT:

Tracey Gilliham, Butte/Glenn 211 Shelly Watson, Jesus Center Cathryn Carkhuff, Home and Heart Meagan Smith, Northern Circle IHA Yesenia Gallegos, CHAT Nancy Jorth, Youth For Change Elisa Rawlinson, DESS Housing & Homeless Debbie Villasenor, Housing Consultant Nick Fashing, DESS APS Sarah Frohock, BCDBH Rachel DeLeon, DESS Carolina Cruz, Catalyst

COMMITTEE MEMBERS NOT PRESENT:

Susan Wilson, Safe Space Sara Sweaney, Nation's Finest Rick Jackson, BCDBH Lynann Pilley, Oroville Rescue Mission Keesha Hills, OSCIA Cynthia Pesheck, Ampla Stephan Spirk, CAA Karen Ramirez, True North Housing Kristopher Kuntz, Anthem Codie McCormack, Caminar Keesha Hills, OSCIA Angie Little, Housing Authority – Butte County Trish Pittman, Health Net Jaymee McLaughlin, CUSD Cecily Kishbaugh, VECTORS

OTHER ATTENDEES:

Javi Pineda, HACB Kaitlin Sherrill, DESS HHOME Isabel Alaniz, DESS HHOME Troy McClanahan, DESS HHOME Erickson Montes, DESS HHOME Lorena Reed, BCDBH Wendy Lo, DESS HHOME Olivia Jolley, Safe Space Samantha Raschka, Ampla Erin Murray, DESS HHOME

1. CALL TO ORDER:

Meeting called to order by Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson at 1:02pm.

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES - ACTION:

- a. HMIS/CES Committee Meeting, October 2022
- b. HMIS/CES Committee Meeting, November 2022
- c. HMIS/CES Committee Meeting, February 2023
- d. HMIS/CES Committee Meeting, April 2023
- a. Motion to hold all meeting minutes until the June 2023 HMIS/CES meeting.

Motion: Sarah Frohock Second: Nancy Jorth Opposed: None Abstained: None

3. INTRODUCTIONS/AGENCY UPDATES:

Introductions made by everyone in attendance.

The following updates were provided:

- Tracey Gillihan, Butte/Glenn 211 stated the only update is the launching of the California versus Hate which is the program for reporting hate incidents and hate crimes which just rolled out last week. Information to be provided.
- Sarah Frohock, BCDBH stated the team is working on developing a process to fill vacancies at Creekside place and for the upcoming project Prospect View. Coordinated Entry will be used to fill vacancies.
- Yesenia Gallegos, CHAT stated continuously working on intra workings and filling vacancies. There are only 2 vacancies.
- Erickson Montes, DESS HH announced so many changes are coming with the new 2024 HMIS requirements.
- Samantha Raschka, Ampla announced the MMU is up and running again.

4. AB977 UPDATE:

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson stated the AB977 discussed about 6 months ago is a State Bill that states California State funded Homeless Service Programs have to start entering information into the HMIS system. The Programs in Butte County are going to start entering information into HMIS starting June 1, 2023. These programs are No Place Like Home, Bringing Families Home, Housing Disability Advocacy Program and the Housing Support Program (HSP). The HSP Program have the Homeless Prevention Program, Rapid Rehousing Program and the Transitional Housing Program, so more programs will be seen in HMIS starting June 1, 2023. There will also be more case managers and care team members being seen in HMIS. Any questions regarding any of these programs send an email to HMIShelp.

Debbie Villasenor, Consultant mentions it's important to make sure HMIS data entered is correct and updated so quarterly reports can be ran and submitted to the State. The State will review and analyze the information on the quarterly report and make decisions on the HMIS data. This includes reviewing who is benefiting from the programs and the outcomes of these programs which will impact funding.

Brief discussion held on State data elements not matching HUD data elements in HMIS.

*Item #6 on the agenda was moved to Item #5 and Item #5 was moved to Item #6.

5. MOU AMENDMENT WITH BITFOCUS:

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson stated at this time last year there were 90 User Licenses throughout our community and starting July 1, 2022 went from 90 user licenses to 120 user licenses. As of May 1, 2023 there were 55 more user licenses added. The software provider donated 25 user licenses. The 90 user licenses includes the 25 donated user licenses. As of May 1, 2023 there are 185 user licenses for Butte County. There are 2 administrator user licenses and 1 manager user license. Some new agency user licenses have been added and are now at 24 agency user licenses.

The number of user licenses have doubled since this time last year due to the increases of Federal and State Funding sources that are starting to require HMIS entries. The need for HMIS users has increased and so some additional licenses have been added and Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson is working on finishing up the MOU with BitFocus.

Question was asked: Are new agencies coming aboard being charged for HMIS user licenses? **Answer:** There are some agencies paying for their user licenses with a mix of revenue and non-revenue. Majority of the agencies are not paying for the HMIS user licenses. Some agencies have asked to purchase some user licenses and are able to cover the cost of those user licenses based upon the funding they have available to purchase the user license. There are some agencies who have purchased their own user licenses.

DESS is providing all the HMIS End User trainings.

6. TRAINING:

- a. Informed Consent (Household with Children)
 - i. Uploading New Informed Consent
- b. Adding Alerts

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson stated she will be reviewing informed consents specific to Households with Children, how to upload new informed consents into HMIS and to review how to add an alert to HMIS.

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson reminded everyone when entering information into HMIS that HMIS is a HUD/Federal System. Information and data points entered into HMIS are HUD defined and could be difficult especially if you work in a program funded by the State and the agency policy doesn't line up with HUD definitions. When entering information into HMIS the information has to be based on HUD definitions.

HUD defines "household" as individuals who are going to be living together in permanent housing, which does not mean individuals need to be physically together today. Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson provided an example of what this would look like. Individuals in HMIS with children under the age of 18 will need to add their children to the informed consent to connect them to the household. Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson demonstrated where to enter the children on the informed consent. The informed consent is uploaded into the parent and children's individual profiles. Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson clarified the children would be added to the informed consent if the children would be moving permanently back with the parent once the parent obtains permanent housing. If the children would just be visiting the parent then the children would not need to be added to the informed consent. Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson stated to search for all children and parents in HMIS to see if they are already in the HMIS System before adding anyone to the HMIS system. Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson demonstrated searching for individual profile and how to upload an updated informed consent into HMIS. If the profile page shows a banner stating "Release of Information is Missing or Permission Not Provided" the staff member who sees this notice is responsible to obtain the release of information from the client. Informed consents are valid for 3 years from the date the informed consent is signed.

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson demonstrated in the HMIS training site on how to add an alert to the client profile in HMIS. Alerts are used to notify agencies of any important information regarding the client. Alerts in HMIS can be set to expire on a date in the future. As a reminder when speaking to a client on the phone confirm the contact information in HMIS.

7. FULL SHARE VERSUS BASIC SHARE – DISCUSSION/ACTION:

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson stated the discussion about full share versus basic share in HMIS has been started and this discussion entailed the differences in full share and basic share in HMIS. Currently the HMIS system is a basic share which means active programs can be seen in HMIS but the enrollment pages cannot be seen which means if the client is enrolled into another program all the information will need to be entered manually again.

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson further stated in a full share system the enrollment page for programs are visible to all agencies but cannot be changed. The information on the enrollment page in a full share system will roll over into the new program enrollment page and staff would just need to confirm the information with the client. Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson demonstrated how the full share system would work in the HMIS training site. DESS employees upload informed consents into HMIS and can only be viewed by DESS employees. With a full share system everyone would be able to see the informed consent in the HMIS system and confirm that everyone in the household is listed on it.

Elisa Rawlinson, Chairperson would like to move to a full share system which would streamline client information in HMIS to all agencies to assist clients faster. The full share system would make it easier on staff and the clients. This is a discussion item for today and hopefully fairly soon to become an action item but there may need to be more discussion. Brief discussion held on the full share system.

a. **Motion** - to change agenda item from Full Share versus Basic Share Discussion item to Full Share versus Basic Share Action item and to move from Basic Share to Full Share in HMIS effective 7/1/23.

> Motion: Sarah Frohock Second: Meagan Smith Opposed: None Abstained: Carolina Cruz, Catalyst

Approval of moving from a Basic Share to a Full Share system is contingent on approval from the CoC in the June 2023 CoC meeting.

8. NEXT MEETING:

Monday June 5, 2023 1:00pm – 3:00pm.

9. ADJOURN:

Meeting adjourned at 2:47pm.



HMIS Lead Product SERIES



PRODUCT NO. 1 OF 9

HMIS Lead Standards

This resource is prepared by technical assistance providers and intended only to provide guidance. The contents of this document, except when based on statutory or regulatory authority or law, do not have the force and effect of law and are not meant to bind the public in any way. This document is intended only to provide clarity to the public regarding existing requirements under the law or agency policies.

Introduction

The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) requires Continuums of Care (CoCs) to designate an eligible applicant to manage the CoC's Homeless Management Information System (HMIS), known as the "HMIS Lead." If the CoC has an HMIS grant, only the HMIS Lead can apply for the grant. The requirement was established in the CoC Program interim rule [24 CFR 578.7(b)(2)] and Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) Program interim rule [24 CFR 576.107(a)(1)(x)]. Details of the requirement, as well as additional policy considerations, are provided there and in several HUD and technical assistance documents:

- <u>CoC Program Competition</u>
- <u>HMIS Lead Series Products</u>
- HUD Guidance on HMIS Governance Requirements (2013)
- The HMIS Governance Models Handout (2010)
- HMIS Data and Technical Standards
- HMIS APR and CAPER Programming Specifications
- Homelessness Data Exchange Resources (CSV, XML, Logic Model)
- Program Specific HMIS Data Manuals (CoC, ESG, VA, PATH, HOPWA, RHY.)
- HMIS Comparable Database Manual
- Data Quality Management Program
- <u>Coordinated Entry Core Elements</u>
- <u>Coordinated Entry Management and Data Guide</u>

The CoC is required to:

- 1. designate an HMIS software
- 2. oversee and approve the development and implementation of HMIS Policies and Procedures, a Data Quality Plan, and a Security and Privacy Plan
- 3. ensure compliance to those documents through monitoring.

As the designated HMIS eligible applicant, the HMIS Lead assumes responsibility for HMIS operation on behalf of the CoC. Therefore, the CoC may delegate some of its responsibilities to the HMIS Lead. For instance, the CoC is required to ensure that the HMIS software adheres to regulations and guidance related to the collection, management, and reporting of data to meet the requirements set forth by HUD and its federal partners. The CoC may delegate the evaluation of software compliance and the management of policies, procedures, and monitoring for HMIS compliance to the HMIS Lead. There are many types of HMIS implementations (single CoC implementation, multi-CoC implementation, partially shared governance, fully shared governance, etc.), and these standards take that into account, as each CoC's designated HMIS is ultimately the responsibility of the CoC, even when the HMIS is shared with other CoCs.

Using These Standards

The HMIS Lead is required to perform certain duties related to the management and operation of the CoC's designated HMIS software, as assigned in the CoC Governance Charter, and per any agreements between the HMIS Lead agency, the CoC, the CoC's designee (such as the Collaborative Applicant or CoC subcommittee), or HUD (such as a grant agreement for an HMIS dedicated grant). This document recognizes that HMIS governance, management, and operational structures vary between CoCs. This document articulates the broad spectrum of activities any entity that is designated or assumes responsibility for HMIS may be responsible for and sets forth standards for completing those responsibilities.

In the sections that follow, this document clarifies the role and responsibilities of the HMIS Lead, as well as potential strategies for ensuring compliance with HUD guidance. CoCs can use these HMIS Lead Standards as a reference to:

- help them identify key aspects of the implementation, operation, and management duties of the HMIS Lead
- compare this list against existing practices and responsibilities to gauge HMIS Lead performance to its designated role
- offer a general outline for the policies, procedures, and agreements that govern the responsibilities of the various stakeholders within the CoC

HMIS Governance

"HMIS governance" describes the general decision-making structures and operational requirements that form the basis of HMIS activity within a CoC. Basic requirements around HMIS governance, including those relating to the segment of the broader CoC Governance Charter addressing HMIS operations, may be found in the <u>CoC Program interim rule</u>. In addition to the CoC Governance Charter, HMIS governance should be supported by a series of agreements outlining the roles, responsibilities, and activities of community stakeholders interacting with the HMIS or the data therein. These structures should be incorporated into broader CoC governance documents to improve efficiency and clearly delineate basic required practices.

CoCs should have executed agreements between the various entities involved with HMIS to ensure the proper and beneficial operation of your community's HMIS implementation. Principally, executed agreements should be in place between the HMIS Lead and (1) the CoC, (2) all Covered Homeless Organizations (CHOs), and (3) end users accessing your HMIS.

- 1. Agreement with the CoC: To ensure clear decision-making processes regarding the community's HMIS implementation, the HMIS Lead should execute a formal agreement with the CoC that clearly identifies, defines, and describes the roles and responsibilities of each organization or party to the agreement. A formal agreement acknowledges the separation of duties, can act in part as a guide to the HMIS Lead's performance, and should include processes for termination. These agreements often take the form of an HMIS governance charter and may be supported with by-laws and contracts.
- **2.** Agreement with CHOs: The HMIS Lead should execute a written HMIS Participation Agreement with each CHO. While HMIS Participation Agreements may cover a host of activities necessary to meet local needs, at a minimum, these executed agreements should address:
 - The obligations and authority of the HMIS Lead and the CHO
 - 2

- The requirements of the CoC's Privacy Policy and Security Plan with which the HMIS Lead and CHOs must abide
- The sanctions for violating the HMIS Participation Agreement (e.g., imposing a financial penalty, requiring completion of standardized or specialized training, suspending, or revoking user licenses, suspending, or revoking system privileges, or pursuing criminal prosecution)
- An acknowledgment that the HMIS Lead and the CHO will process Personally Identifiable Information (PII) consistent with the Agreement
- An acknowledgement on how to ensure the CHO's staff have met the HMIS confidentiality agreement requirement
- **3.** Agreement with end users: To ensure compliance of HMIS and CHO staff with HMIS Policies and Procedures, HMIS Participating Agency Agreements, and Privacy and Security Plans, the HMIS Lead should execute an HMIS End User Agreement with every person with access to the HMIS and its data. At a minimum, these HMIS End User Agreements should include:
 - Expectations for ensuring data security
 - Expectations for maintaining client privacy and confidentiality
 - Expectations for adherence to all HMIS related policies and procedures, including privacy, security, coordinated entry, data quality, and data use and disclosure
 - How users are meant to refresh their knowledge of the Privacy and Security Plans on a regular basis and be informed of any updates to the policies
 - Responsibilities for reporting deviations from HMIS related policies and procedures
 - Statement of potential disciplinary actions for deviations from HMIS related policies and procedures

Comparable Database Responsibilities: Victim Services Providers (VSPs) that are recipients or subrecipients under the CoC and ESG Programs are required to collect client-level data consistent with HMIS data collection requirements. The Violence Against Women Act (VAWA) and the Family Violence Prevention and Services Act (FVPSA) contain strong, legally codified confidentiality provisions that limit VSPs from sharing, disclosing, or revealing victims' PII, including entering information into shared databases like HMIS. To protect clients, VSPs must enter required client-level data into a comparable database that complies with all HMIS requirements.

HMIS Leads can assist VSPs with their comparable databases, and more information is outlined in the <u>Comparable Database Checklist</u> and the <u>Comparable Database Manual</u>.

Strategies for HMIS Governance

Integrate Governance Materials: HMIS governance documents, including all agreements, should refer to each other and ensure collectively that there are no contradictions in the expectations for compliance to HUD and CoC HMIS policies and procedures. Collectively, HMIS documents should provide clear and transparent expectations.

Incorporate Technology: The CoC may choose to incorporate technology into the distribution, signing, and collection of documents. This could include systems such as electronic signature software or the CoC's HMIS if that functionality exists with the HMIS software.

Define Reporting Standards: The CoC should clearly outline expectations around reporting that is shared or submitted to CHOs, funders, and the general public. The HMIS Lead should adhere to any requirements by the CoC around the release of agency-wide or system-wide public reports or dashboards. Standards should be adopted around reproducibility requirements, code review, and product documentation expectations.

Evaluate Governance: The CoC could conduct a 3rd party evaluation of the HMIS Lead prior to a contract renewal (at regular, defined intervals) to ensure the following:

- The HMIS Governance has been upheld
- A diverse set of HMIS stakeholders are confident in the work done by the HMIS Lead (using both quantitative and qualitative measures)
- A review of the HMIS budget has been done to ensure sufficient capacity to uphold the governance structure of the HMIS and to revise where necessary
- Hiring and retention practices favor equity in personnel, responsibilities, pay, benefits, and training support

Measure Effectiveness: The CoC can utilize the <u>HMIS Lead Monitoring Tool</u> to measure the effectiveness of the HMIS Lead and ensure a fair review of HMIS Lead performance, taking into account CoC goals around maintaining a diverse and inclusive team.

Communicate: It is highly recommended that the CoC and HMIS Lead have regular communication to keep each other informed of any issues, upcoming events, or requirements, and what is going well. The CoC and HMIS Lead should make HMIS Governance documents readily available for projects and stakeholders to access via websites or other media.

Delineate Roles and Responsibilities: Roles and responsibilities of all entities involved with HMIS should be clearly defined and articulated in an equitable manner. Any agreements, documents, or conversations involving roles and responsibilities should also include how to address any conflicts that arise because of confusion or disagreement about roles and responsibilities across and among various entities involved with HMIS.

HMIS Lead Monitoring Tool: If a CoC is considering transitioning the HMIS Lead role to a new entity, it is highly recommended that the CoC use the <u>HMIS Lead Monitoring Tool</u> and <u>request HUD Technical</u> <u>Assistance</u>.

Incorporation of People with Lived Experience of Homelessness: Without lived experience and stakeholder input into the types of data and methods in which data is collected, it becomes very challenging to address the issues members of a specific community face. HMIS Leads should consider more client-informed data collection practices that elevate the input of those with lived experience and incorporate unique local community characteristics within the data collection process, including culturally humble practices.

Management

HMIS Leads are responsible for the overall management of the CoC's HMIS implementation. As such, HMIS Leads should take all steps necessary to ensure the efficient and effective operation of the CoC's HMIS; including maintaining sufficient staffing levels to support HMIS Lead activities, identifying and managing financial needs to ensure effective HMIS implementation; and organizing feedback loops to ensure that the HMIS implementation meets the needs of all stakeholders and complies with all applicable HUD, federal partner, and CoC requirements.

The HMIS Lead should conduct an annual evaluation and monitoring of the HMIS implementation to demonstrate fidelity to applicable regulations, requirements, and expectations of HUD, the federal partners, and the CoC, as well as to its own policies and procedures. The evaluation and monitoring should assess the HMIS implementation for gaps and create an annual action plan focused on closing those gaps and enhancing HMIS capacity to support community efforts to prevent and end homelessness, including the incorporation of data-informed decision making as regular practice within the CoC.

4

As part of the annual evaluation and monitoring of the HMIS implementation, HMIS Leads should consider developing a process to collect and analyze stakeholder satisfaction with the implementation, including but not limited to conducting focus groups and anonymous customer satisfaction surveys. This practice can and should involve stakeholders from all levels of the system, including people who are experiencing homelessness whose data are collected, HMIS front end users who regularly use the system, CHO leaders whose organizations utilize HMIS, and state/local partners who rely on HMIS data.

The HMIS Lead should maintain staffing levels sufficient to adequately support HMIS Lead roles and responsibilities that incorporate equitable hiring and retention practices in alignment with the June 2021 <u>Executive Order on Diversity, Equity, Inclusion, and Accessibility in the Federal Workforce</u>. This includes ensuring adequate supervision of HMIS staff and improving knowledge development through the provision of training opportunities. To ensure that the HMIS Lead maintains staffing levels sufficient to adequately support HMIS Lead roles and responsibilities, the HMIS Lead could ensure that, at a minimum, staffing levels are appropriate to support, for example:

- A ratio of about 75 end users per full-time HMIS System Administrator, considering other factors, such as how many CoCs may be covered by a given HMIS Lead team.
- Access to ad hoc data reporting and analysis tools plus any training needed on these tools.

Staffing levels should be one component of the annual evaluation and monitoring process, with year-to-year adjustments made as appropriate.

In addition to the HMIS-specific considerations outlined here, HMIS Leads should develop standard grant management practices to ensure the long-term viability of the implementation. CoC Program-funded dedicated HMIS grant recipients must designate staff to manage the award through <u>e-snaps</u>, <u>eLOCCS</u>, and <u>Sage</u>. An HMIS Lead without CoC Program funding must still adhere to the technical standards published by HUD.

For HMIS Leads that are dedicated HMIS grant recipients, they must develop and maintain an annual budget for HMIS financial activities and a financial reporting system that tracks revenues, expenditures, and current balances of the HMIS budget. The HMIS Lead must ensure that the expenditures of the HMIS project funded with CoC Program funds are eligible in accordance with §578.57 of the CoC Program interim rule. The HMIS Lead should maintain copies of contracts and invoices, including invoices and payment histories of user fees and other budget resources paid directly to the HMIS Lead. Contracts with the following entities should be on file and readily available:

- HMIS software vendor
- HMIS consultants/contractors
- HMIS Participating Agencies
- HMIS end users
- Any entity that has access to PII maintained within HMIS, including those with access for the purposes of sharing data across HMIS agencies, utilizing the coordinated entry system prioritization list (if maintained within HMIS or by the HMIS Lead), and for internal use in housing a client and providing services (including case conferencing)
- Any entity that is uploading or downloading client data into HMIS, whether that data contains PII or not

To ensure that adequate financial resources are in place going forward, the HMIS Lead, in conjunction with the CoC, should regularly perform strategic and financial planning to match resources to priorities. As part of this strategic planning, the HMIS Lead should develop not just the annual budget for the HMIS implementation but also provide estimates of future budgetary needs so that the CoC can identify additional resources as necessary.

Strategies for Management

Ensure Compliance with Requirements: Depending on capacity, HMIS Leads may wish to implement the following strategies to ensure compliance with HMIS requirements and recommendations regarding management:

- Develop 2 and 5-year strategic plans regarding the management of the HMIS grant and HMIS operations, including planning for funding, software updates/upgrades, and needs for purchasing additional licenses (if applicable) and functionalities as the HMIS grows
- Conduct regular (community defined interval) HMIS software reviews in conjunction with the CoC

Contracts: HMIS Lead should consider including the following in all legally binding contracts related to the HMIS implementation (as appropriate):

- Allowable expenditures, activities, responsibilities, and roles of the contracting parties
- Measurable performance standards for HMIS software vendors and consultants, as well as the consequences for non-performance
- Allowable uses of data, including disclosures of data, particularly PII, in specific circumstances
- Adherence to Privacy Practices
- Roles, responsibilities, and liabilities for breaches of privacy and security of client-level information

Financial Planning: When conducting financial planning for HMIS, the CoC and HMIS Lead should review not only the human capacity within the HMIS Lead to ensure it meets the CoC's needs, but also the technology available to the HMIS Lead to meet the needs and desires of the CoC, including webinar software, interactive training or learning management system software, electronic signature software, help desk software, and data visualization software.

Diversify Funding: The CoC and HMIS Lead should work together to <u>diversify funding</u> and ensure its sustainability. Any organization or project added to HMIS should involve planning to ensure the HMIS Lead can support the addition of users, training requirements, reporting requirements, and data analysis.

Long-Term Planning: As much as possible, the CoC and HMIS Lead should think about not only what HMIS is and the current needs, but also what the vision for HMIS is in the near and long term and how it aligns with the CoC's vision for ending homelessness. Planning for staffing and resources to fully support the HMIS implementation should include input from stakeholders with various perspectives of what they want to see from HMIS and what is needed to get it.

It is a best practice for CoCs and HMIS Leads to include a diverse group of stakeholders including frontline workers, and other staff from CHOs, Black, Indigenous, all people of color, those with the lived experience of homelessness and other stakeholders reflective of those marginalized and minoritized populations present in the local homeless community. Engaging a diverse group in long-term planning creates buy-in, elevates the needs and input of those being served, and leads to a more inclusive and informed HMIS plan.

Policies and Procedures

HMIS Policies and Procedures are necessary to assure smooth day-to-day operation of the HMIS implementation. Policies articulate the CoC's expectations for the utilization of the HMIS and the data therein. Procedures describe the processes and activities that ensure compliance to the policies. By developing and following standardized Policies and Procedures, the CoC and its community partners are better able to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations (both federal and local), develop functional processes for decision-making, and streamline internal practices.

The HMIS Lead should, in conjunction with the CoC, develop, implement, and monitor the use of Policies and Procedures that reflect the expectations of the CoC for the operation and utilization of the HMIS and management of the data therein. The Policies and Procedures should outline specific rules for the operation of the HMIS, specific actions to ensure compliance to the rules, and strategies for monitoring compliance to the rules.

Relatedly, the HMIS Lead should work with the CoC to complete the requirement in the CoC Program interim rule to "[r]eview, revise, and approve a privacy plan, security plan, and data quality plan for the HMIS." These plans can be stand-alone documents, or part of the broader Policies and Procedures. For more information, please see the Privacy, Security, and Data Quality sections of these Standards. The HMIS Lead should support the CoC to meet its requirements of reviewing and updating the plans and policies at least annually. Gathering CHO and other diverse stakeholder feedback on the revisions to these plans and policies is also recommended. If any Policies and Procedures are part of a separate document (such as the Data Quality Plan), that document should be referenced in the HMIS Policies and Procedures.

The HMIS Lead should ensure the completeness of the Policies and Procedures by addressing the following areas at a minimum:

- Grant Management Requirements and Process
- HMIS Participation Requirements
- HMIS End User Requirements
- HMIS User Fees (if applicable)
- CHO Hardware and Connectivity Requirements (including workstation requirements)
- Privacy and Client Rights
- Data Security Requirements
- HMIS Training Requirements and Process
- HMIS Technical Support Process
- Data Collection Requirements
- Data Quality Requirements
- Data Access, Ownership, and Use
- Performance Measurement
- Grievance Procedure
- CHO Compliance Monitoring
- Consequences for violation of the HMIS Policies and Procedures

Strategies for Policies and Procedures

Clear and Understandable: As much as possible, HMIS Policies and Procedures should be written in accessible, common language that is easily understood and clear.

Accessible: HMIS Policies and Procedures should be <u>508 compliant</u> and in a format that is compatible with software that is free across all operating systems. Examples would include a 508 compliant webpage or a pdf

document free of any elements that would make it difficult to view by sighted, low-vision, color-blind, or nonsighted readers. All images should contain clear and concise alt text.

Use Examples: The HMIS Lead should consider using client and end-user scenarios in the Policies and Procedures to ensure that they can be operationalized and match how procedures occur or how policies are interpreted.

Review and Update: The HMIS Lead may consider the following strategies to review and update HMIS Policies and Procedures:

- Make the review and update of HMIS Policies and Procedures a community effort, which could include enlisting a HMIS/Data Committee, end users, and people with lived experience of homelessness who are racially diverse and reflective of the local homeless population to review the Policies and Procedures
- Incorporate changes and guidance into the HMIS Policies and Procedures on an ongoing basis or during the annual review process
- Take advantage of peer-to-peer opportunities to share Policies and Procedures and procure language
- Enroll in the HUD mailing list to receive ongoing updates regarding HMIS requirements, roles, and responsibilities
- Attend HUD-sponsored HMIS Lead calls and ask questions related to requirements and recommendations

Availability: The HMIS Policies and Procedures should be readily available via the CoC and HMIS Lead websites.

Ensure Awareness: To ensure all end users are aware of the HMIS Policies and Procedures, the HMIS Lead could include receipt and review of the Policies and Procedures in an HMIS User Agreement or other document signed by each end user upon access to HMIS To maintain user knowledge and be sure any changes made over time are communicated and understood, HMIS Leads could also incorporate end user quizzes as part of an annual renewal process.

Legal Review: It may be beneficial for HMIS Policies and Procedures, and any other documents or agreements surrounding HMIS, to go through a legal review to ensure they meet any relevant state and local requirements.

HMIS Participation

The requirement to increase participation in the HMIS is the responsibility of the CoC; however, the HMIS Lead plays a critical role in advancing participation. From ensuring current end users are happy with the system, to partaking in participation discussions, customizing workflows, providing training, and establishing relationships with potential projects, the HMIS Lead can positively impact the CoC's efforts to increase participation.

The HMIS Lead should coordinate with CoC leadership to develop and implement an outreach strategy to recruit non-participating agencies to expand HMIS coverage. There are several ways HMIS Leads can support the development and implementation of this plan, and to expand HMIS coverage in general, detailed below.

HMIS Leads should establish community connections by:

• Designating staff to participate in professional activities, including local CoC Committee meetings and state, regional, and national events to understand the larger goals of their system to better

operationalize those goals in the context of HMIS

- Communicating with diverse stakeholders clearly, frequently, and transparently
- Sharing regular reports on HMIS participation, coverage, quality, and system-wide performance with community leadership

In addition, HMIS Leads should take the time to understand potential partners. What are the wants, needs, workflows, and regulatory boundaries of non-participating projects?

HMIS Leads should be responsive to the needs of those whose information is included in the HMIS, end users and other stakeholders and build in quality control measures to ensure satisfaction with the system, the HMIS help desk, workflows, grievance processes and trainings.

Strategies for HMIS Participation

Managing Community Relationships: HMIS Leads will need to form relationships with potential projects, and may wish to pursue the following strategies to manage community relationships:

- Articulate HMIS Lead alignment with community goals to end homelessness
- Provide relevant reporting that would be meaningful and useful to the potential agencies
- Facilitate forums for HMIS end users to interact and share HMIS experiences
- Participate in CoC workgroups, planning and strategy sessions
- Ensure HMIS-related agreements include roles and responsibilities and feedback mechanisms
- Establish trust in the HMIS and its leadership, ensuring system integrity at all levels
- Create marketing materials to educate the community and non-participating agencies on the benefit of using HMIS, including the benefits to clients
- Offer to demonstrate the HMIS software to non-participating agencies using a training site or sandbox site
- Help the CoC problem-solve barriers to HMIS participation and customize workflows, data entry guidance questions, and data elements to streamline the data entry process as much as possible
- Be sure that any custom data elements added to workflows are kept to a minimum, the rationale for adding the element has strong CoC support, the data element is worded in a clear and traumainformed way, and the options are either multi-select or mutually exclusive. Custom data elements should fill a reporting purpose and be retired when that purpose is no longer relevant
- Ensure that HMIS data is easily accessed, interpreted, and able to be acted upon to the necessary stakeholders
- Create strategies to intentionally outreach to "non-traditional" partners and agencies that provide services to historically minoritized populations to understand their data needs and any concerns they may have around participating in HMIS

Customized Solutions: The CoC and HMIS Lead should work with projects one-on-one where needed to provide customized solutions to fit their "why" related to not using HMIS. The HMIS Lead should ensure consistent and ongoing support and follow-up for projects transitioning to using HMIS.

Data Quality Monitoring Toolkit: Components of the <u>Data Quality Monitoring Toolkit</u> address HMIS Participation and HMIS Bed Coverage, as well as strategies that CoCs and HMIS Leads can use to engage non-HMIS-participating projects.

Meeting Needs: Projects should discuss their needs related to data entry, reporting, and analysis with the CoC and HMIS Lead to ensure a common understanding of what the project expects, as well as what the CoC and HMIS Lead will support.

Subsidize Costs: Where possible, the CoC should work with non-HMIS-participating projects to help

9

subsidize any user fees or other HMIS-associated costs for a defined period (for example, the first 6 months or year of HMIS participation) to help ease projects into the use of HMIS.

Public Acknowledgement: A CoC or HMIS Lead's use of public acknowledgment is powerful and can be used to praise a non-HMIS-participating project newly entering data into HMIS. An acknowledgment of how the data entered into HMIS will not only benefit the project but also the CoC and clients served could be an incentive, as can quick but powerful data visualizations of the data entered into HMIS by the project.

Monitoring of HMIS Participating Agencies (CHOs)

To ensure that the HMIS implementation (and the data contained therein) is a functional tool for preventing and ending homelessness within the community, participating agencies should be monitored regularly for compliance to HUD regulations and CoC expectations. This will assist the community to ensure that standardized policies and procedures are being followed throughout the CoC, bolster confidence in the data maintained within the HMIS, and make needed corrections in the event deficiencies are discovered.

The CoC Program interim rule requires the CoC to "**ensure consistent participation of recipients and subrecipients** in the HMIS." The HMIS Lead should assist the CoC with developing an appropriate plan for monitoring the records and data collection practices of participating agencies, including ensuring that data collection is conducted in a trauma-informed and culturally humble manner, and conducting monitoring at regularly scheduled intervals. At a minimum, a clear and transparent monitoring plan should include:

- References to compliance policies, procedures, and benchmarks, including those included in agreements
- Processes for conducting a monitoring
- Schedules for periodic monitoring
- Methods for communicating monitoring results to the CHO and the CoC

As part of the monitoring plan and process, the HMIS Lead should create a tool for conducting CHO compliance monitoring. At a minimum, the monitoring tool should include a clear and transparent instrument to capture monitoring results which should be shared with the CHO in advance of their monitoring. In accordance with CoC policies and procedures, the HMIS Lead and participating agencies should create plans to address monitoring findings.

Strategies for Monitoring HMIS Participating Agencies (CHOs)

Creating and Executing a Monitoring Plan: HMIS Leads should consider the following practices when creating and executing a monitoring plan:

- Consult the Data Quality Management Program in the HMIS Lead Toolkit
- Schedule monitoring of participating agencies in conjunction with funders (e.g., CoC, ESG recipient)
- Tie monitoring results to funding opportunities through CoC ranking and rating processes in partnership with the CoC
- Incorporate feedback from people with lived experience about the CHO's data collection practices

Remote vs. On-Site Monitoring: COVID-19 has changed the way many CoCs conduct monitoring. HMIS Leads should do what is best for their staff and the staff of the participating agencies, putting the health of staff and clients first. Most aspects of HMIS Participating Agency monitoring can be completed remotely, such as a review of whether the agency is meeting the baseline requirements, as laid out in the CoC's Data Quality Plan. Other pieces of monitoring, such as ensuring the HMIS Consumer Notice is posted in a place where clients will see it, may be completed on-site with precautions, or may be deferred to a later

date, as determined by the CoC. An HMIS budget should take into consideration the need for onsite HMIS Participating Agency monitoring on an annual basis.

Integrate Monitoring Efforts: When possible, including the HMIS monitoring with other required monitoring (for example, monitoring required for CoC Program-funded, ESG-funded, or locally funded projects) can be beneficial both for the participating agencies and the parties involved in the monitoring to reduce exposures, streamline the process for agencies, and ensure expectations placed on agencies by different grant and HMIS requirements are consistent.

Well-documented Expectations: The expectations of HMIS Participating Agencies should be transparent and they should know how they will be monitored and what will be reviewed during the monitoring process. The CoC and HMIS Lead should maintain consistency in how agencies are monitored and what criteria are used for monitoring.

HMIS Software Vendor Management

HMIS software is often developed and provided by third-party entities known as "vendors." To ensure that the HMIS is an effective tool for the community, it is necessary that the CoC and HMIS Lead establish certain expectations regarding the roles and responsibilities of the HMIS software vendor regarding the implementation.

CoCs and HMIS Leads should review the <u>Tools for Contract Management</u> available on HUD Exchange for comprehensive guidance about software vendor management. The HMIS Lead should execute an enforceable contract with the HMIS solution provider. At a minimum, that contract should ensure:

- The HMIS software meets HUD and CoC data and technical standards
- The HMIS software meets HUD and CoC privacy and security standards
- The HMIS software can produce the reports and data exports required by HUD, other federal partners, and the CoC
- The HMIS software vendor will provide training and technical support to the HMIS Lead
- There is agreement on hosting and backup of HMIS data, including protections to ensure data survival of natural disasters (disaster recovery protocols)
- There is agreement on the costs that will be paid to the HMIS software vendor
- The HMIS software vendor will ensure that all HMIS data can be migrated to another software if needed
- Expectations and a process for contract disputes, termination of the contract, transfer of the data, and financial remediation
- Expectations related to data privacy or security breaches on the part of HMIS software vendor staff.

The <u>HMIS Software Vendor Capacity Checklist</u> contains additional information that will be valuable when an HMIS Lead is managing their vendor contract. When working with a new HMIS software vendor, or when renewing the contract with the existing HMIS software vendor, the HMIS Lead should ensure that the HMIS software will meet the specific local needs of the CoC. The following areas may be useful to consider when negotiating the contract with the HMIS software vendor:

- The degree to which the HMIS software vendor offers technical assistance to the HMIS Lead and participating agencies
- The ability of the software to import all legacy data from the HMIS CSV Export, including the Project Descriptor Data Elements
- The reporting capability of the software
- The degree the software can and will support Coordinated Entry, a Prioritization Report, or Referrals as outlined in the Coordinated Entry Standards

- The ability of the HMIS software to interact with outside data systems (i.e., through an API)
- The costs associated with additional features, adding reports, and integrating data from outside the HMIS
- The development cycle for HUD and federal partner changes being implemented in the HMIS software, and any associated costs with updates

In addition to negotiating a contract with an HMIS solution provider that best meets the needs of the CoC, the HMIS Lead should communicate at regular intervals with the HMIS software vendor to ensure clear and consistent communication. To ensure this kind of communication, the HMIS Lead can:

- Establish designated contact persons between the HMIS software vendor and the HMIS Lead
- Establish communication protocols, including issue escalation practices, non-resolution consequences, and development of customized work plans for HMIS growth

Strategies for HMIS Software Vendor Management

Relationship Management: HMIS Leads may wish to pursue the following strategies to foster a healthy relationship with their HMIS software vendor:

- Fully utilize the materials and tools provided by the HMIS software vendor
- Ask the HMIS software vendor to present at or participate in CoC meetings to ensure CoC membership is comfortable with the vendor and understands the difference between HMIS software vendor and HMIS Lead
- Utilize <u>Vendor Transition Checklist</u> when changing HMIS software vendors
- Utilize <u>Vendor Monitoring Tool</u> when monitoring HMIS software vendor
- Utilize <u>Coordinated Entry Core Elements</u> and <u>Coordinated Entry Management and Data Guide</u> when utilizing HMIS for Coordinated Entry

Stakeholder Input: Seeking input from a cross-section of HMIS stakeholders about the software and its functionality may be beneficial when determining software vendor contract renewals.

Community Requirements: The CoC and HMIS Lead should know what components of an HMIS implementation they must have (non-negotiables), versus what they want (negotiables). This process exceeds the minimum baseline requirements that all HMIS implementations must meet and looks at local needs and desires for an HMIS implementation.

Privacy

People experiencing homelessness rely on the CoC to provide appropriate housing and services and to do so in such a way that protects their privacy rights. While data sharing is often necessary to provide efficient and effective housing and services, improper release or use of data may jeopardize the privacy, or even the safety, of the people who place their trust in the homelessness system of care. As such, HMIS Leads should take appropriate measures to ensure the privacy of client-level information.

The CoC must review, revise, and approve the privacy plan for the HMIS. The HMIS Lead is well-positioned to create the privacy plan related to HMIS data, often in conjunction with CoC data leadership. The privacy plan must meet all minimum baseline requirements laid out in the <u>HUD Data and Technical Standards of</u> 2004, Section 4.2 and should include or reference CoC established privacy policies and procedures. The HMIS Security and Privacy Plan should also include standards for CHO compliance, references to HMIS Policies and Procedures, references to HMIS Participating Agency and HMIS End User Agreements, and either include or be included in a CHO monitoring process. The plan should clearly state what entities and individuals have

access to HMIS, protections to ensure privacy of client information, policies and procedures for client access and correction to their data, and protocols for use of data related to privacy.

There should be a legal review of state, local, and other federal privacy laws to determine if there are more restrictive or limiting requirements than what is stated below. If so, these laws will need to be considered when developing your local HMIS privacy policies and for making this determination. The HMIS Lead should ensure that the HMIS Policies and Procedures include provisions related to privacy that establish, at a minimum:

- Allowable uses and disclosures of client data
- Whether a client Release of Information (ROI) is required for any allowable use and disclosure included in the privacy policy
- CoC expectations related to the privacy of client data
- Data ownership
- Responsibility for client data
- Data classifications (PII, metadata, other, Administrative vs. client-owned)
- A series of procedures to ensure compliance to the privacy policy
- A series of policies and procedures for managing data breaches
- A requirement for compliance to privacy policies and procedures included in HMIS Agency Participation Agreements, HMIS End User Agreements (including HMIS Lead staff), and any data release agreements
- Protocols for client access to their personal data
- Protocols for managing client requests to correct or remove their personal data
- Policies and procedures for legal access to client personal data
- Policies and procedures for access and use of non-PII
- Policies and procedures for release of information and data sharing
- A process for keeping the Privacy Policies and Procedures current
- A process for monitoring HMIS staff and CHOs for compliance to the Privacy Policies and Procedures
- A process for terminating access to the HMIS and its data

In addition to establishing formal privacy protections as outlined above, the HMIS Lead should work to ensure data privacy by allowing for:

- Easy access of privacy documents on a public website
- Clients to request information via a standardized request process
- Who and what entities can receive data from HMIS, in what form (e.g., aggregate, client-level, PII-level) and how they receive that data
- Require training on privacy and confidentiality policies prior to end user access to HMIS

Strategies for Privacy

Promote Data Privacy: HMIS Leads may wish to pursue the following strategies to promote data privacy in the HMIS community:

- Provide regular training on privacy and confidentiality to program managers, data collection staff, data entry staff, and reporting staff
- Document signed ROI (if applicable) forms on client records in the HMIS and upload the ROI to the client records in HMIS
- Prepare in advance for future monitoring
- Utilize a form or approval process for the release of data and reports

Legal Review: It may be beneficial for any HMIS Privacy Policy to go through a legal review prior to implementation to ensure it addresses any state and local specifics.

Stakeholder Engagement: Significant changes to a Security and Privacy Plan could be presented to a cross-section of HMIS stakeholders prior to implementation for feedback and to help foster buy-in.

Other Privacy Requirements: HMIS implementations that include entities that are covered by additional privacy policies (e.g., HIPAA, CoA, Joint Commission Accreditation) should include these entities in conversations about changes to the CoC's HMIS Privacy Policy to ensure a smooth and efficient process for all entities using HMIS and are bound by more than one privacy policy.

Client Perceptions: Seeking to understand clients' perception of privacy and data sharing could be beneficial to the CoC and HMIS Lead as they review and update the Privacy Policy. Focus groups comprised of a cross-section of people with lived experience of homelessness could help to better understand how clients perceive how and when their data can be used and disclosed, and who has access to their information.

Security

Improper access to HMIS data can be as dangerous to client safety and well-being as violations of privacy and confidentiality. As such, it is imperative that the HMIS Lead ensure that all persons or entities accessing HMIS data do so in an authorized manner.

The CoC must review, revise, and approve the security plan for the HMIS. Similar to the role the HMIS Lead can play in the development of privacy and data quality plans, the HMIS Lead is well-positioned to lead the development of the CoC's HMIS security plan due to familiarity with the software's security protocols and ability to monitor system access by HMIS end users.

The security plan must cover all minimum baseline security requirements laid out in the <u>HUD Data and</u> <u>Technical Standards of 2004, Section 4.3</u> and should include or reference CoC-established security policies and procedures. The HMIS Security Plan should include standards for CHO compliance, references to HMIS Policies and Procedures, references to HMIS Participating Agency and HMIS End User Agreements, and either include or be included in a CHO monitoring process. The plan should clearly state what entities and individuals have access to HMIS, minimum physical and electronic safeguards, protections to ensure privacy of client information, policies and procedures for client access and correction to their data, and protocols for use of data related to privacy.

The HMIS Lead should ensure that the HMIS Policies and Procedures include provisions related to security that establish, at a minimum:

- CoC expectations for system and data security
- Responsibility for system and client data security
- System and data access classifications and descriptions
- Technical safeguards, such as user authentication, virus and firewall requirements, and physical access to systems and workstations accessing the HMIS and its data, including requirements for updating security software
- Data storage requirements
- Data transfer protection protocols
- Standards, policies, and procedures for determining and implementing a data archiving process
- A series of policies and procedures to ensure the physical security of the HMIS and any devices used to access the HMIS
- A series of procedures to ensure compliance to the security policy
- A series of policies and procedures for managing security breaches

- A requirement for compliance to security policies and procedures included in HMIS Agency Participation Agreements, HMIS End User Agreements (including HMIS Lead staff), and any data release agreements
- A process for keeping the Security Policies and Procedures current
- A process for determining technical and physical safeguard updates
- A process for monitoring HMIS staff and CHOs for compliance to the Security Policies and Procedures
- A process for terminating access to the HMIS and its data

In addition to establishing formal security requirements as outlined above, the HMIS Lead should ensure data security by promoting practices that ensure system and data security, such as:

- Requiring training on security policies prior to end user access to HMIS
- Security Awareness Training and Follow Up
- Requiring an Annual Security Certification by end users, including HMIS staff
- Retaining the services of a system and data security professional to review the Security Policies, Procedures, and requirements on an annual basis
- Retaining the services of a system and data security professional to evaluate and document security risk on an annual basis

Strategies for Security

Promote Security Practices Among CHOs: HMIS Leads may wish to maintain a list of agencies participating in HMIS for ensuring that all CHOs:

- Have valid user licenses
- Are entering data consistently
- Are current on HMIS Training Requirements
- Have a current Agency Agreement on file

Reporting on Security: The HMIS Lead may also choose to add Audit Reports and User Access Reports to a calendar for regular reporting.

The CoC and HMIS Lead should determine the need for a conflict of interest statement that is included in the HMIS End User Agreement that addresses whether end users can access their own client records or any records of their immediate family members in HMIS, where applicable.

The CoC should establish a timeframe for how long electronic and paper documents including client-level information are retained before they are disposed of. The CoC could also include in a Security Policy the way in which paper documents should be disposed of (e.g., shredding, burning).

As more HMIS implementations allow for access on mobile phones and tablets, a Security Policy should address security protections directly related to the use of mobile devices for housing client-level information (e.g., photos of clients, signed Releases of Information) and access to HMIS.

System Administration

An HMIS implementation is only as effective as the administration of the system. As such, it is necessary for the HMIS Lead or system administrator (if they are different entities) to establish clear guidelines regarding the administration of the HMIS, including system maintenance, to ensure that all features are available as needed.

The HMIS Lead is responsible for managing the HMIS for the CoC's geographic area, in accordance with

the requirements of the <u>CoC Program interim rule</u> and any HMIS requirements prescribed by HUD. If the HMIS Lead awards contracts or subcontracts to other organizations to assist in the administration and management of the HMIS, it must do so in accordance with the procurement and oversight requirements of <u>2 CFR 200 § 200.318</u>.

The HMIS Lead should develop and follow a system maintenance schedule to monitor and ensure the accuracy of the participating agencies, projects, project descriptor data elements (PDDEs), users, data sharing configurations, and data standards configurations.

The HMIS Lead should act as a planning liaison between the CoC, the HMIS end users, and the HMIS software vendor to plan and implement software fixes and upgrades.

The HMIS Lead should facilitate HMIS User Groups to:

- Assist in the early identification of issues and bugs
- Provide for efficient delivery of technical assistance
- Solicit feedback around support needed

Strategies for System Administration

Effectiveness and Efficiency: HMIS Leads may wish to pursue the following strategies to effectively and efficiently administer the HMIS:

- Reference the <u>System Administrator Checklist</u> to ensure that all required and recommended System Administrator tasks are completed
- Document signed release of information (ROI) forms on client records in the HMIS
- Prepare in advance for future monitoring

Relationship Between CoC and HMIS Lead: The CoC and HMIS Lead may benefit from the <u>HMIS Lead</u>. <u>Improvement Evaluation Matrix</u> and a contract or agreement between the two entities that is actionable, measurable, and time-bound.

HMIS Staffing: The CoC and HMIS Lead may benefit from the <u>HMIS Staffing and Resourcing Toolkit</u> for tools and resources necessary to adequately manage staff capacity and appropriately utilize available resources to meet the community's HMIS and data needs.

HMIS Vendor Monitoring Tool: For issues related to the HMIS software, the CoC and HMIS Lead should utilize the <u>HMIS Software Vendor Monitoring tool</u>, and ensure that contracts with the HMIS Vendor are actionable, measurable, and time-bound.

HMIS Vendor Capacity: The CoC and HMIS Lead may benefit from the <u>HMIS Software Vendor Capacity</u> <u>Checklist</u> as an assessment framework to ensure that the HMIS Vendor, solution providers, and other relevant HMIS stakeholders are fulfilling the roles and responsibilities that may be required by the CoC to ensure the operation of an effective HMIS implementation.

Maintain Documentation: The HMIS Lead should maintain documentation of how changes and updates are made to the HMIS implementation, including a project naming convention, PDDE updates that occur and when, and the steps needed to set up a new project in the system.

Maintain a Training Schedule: The HMIS Lead should maintain a regular end user training schedule including regular review or refresher opportunities, as well as new user training opportunities, training specific to reporting from HMIS, and training on advanced or additional features in HMIS. These trainings should be posted on a website calendar or other tool and users should be made aware of them. For specific training topics and best practices, the HMIS Lead may benefit from the <u>HMIS End User Training Guide</u>.

HMIS Training Materials: As much as possible, HMIS Training materials and resources should be in various formats to account for the various ways in which people learn. This could include recorded webinar trainings, written documents, visual guides, interactive trainings, and the opportunity for live or in-person trainings.

HMIS User Group: As mentioned above, the CoC and HMIS Lead could benefit from an HMIS user group that includes a cross-section of HMIS stakeholders. This group could help identify issues related to HMIS administration, potential solutions, and ongoing monitoring and review of how HMIS administration is functioning.

Relationship between CoC and HMIS Lead and Vendor: The CoC or HMIS Lead may benefit from the <u>Tools for Contract Management</u> in managing the overall contractual relationship with the HMIS Vendor. The CoC or HMIS Lead could request a regularly scheduled call (or other media platform) to connect with the HMIS Vendor to talk through concerns and what is going well. This could be especially beneficial for a CoC and HMIS Lead that are in the first steps of transitioning to a new HMIS solution.

Roles and Responsibilities: The HMIS Lead should have clearly defined roles and responsibilities regarding system administration, separate from the CoC and CHOs, outlined in the Policies and Procedures. If confusion arises, the CoC and HMIS Lead should resolve any issues and further define each entity's distinct responsibilities.

Technical Support

Technical Support is a primary responsibility of the HMIS Lead. Technical support includes a variety of tasks, including resolving end-user HMIS software issues, working with the HMIS Software Vendor to identify and fix software bugs, assisting with report generation, and assistance to end users to identify and fix data quality issues.

The HMIS Lead should **develop and implement a technical support system** including, at a minimum, technical support policies and procedures. The primary purpose of technical support is to resolve end userinitiated inquiries, fix and resolve issues as they are reported in an organized and accurate way to ensure end user satisfaction, and enable continuity and consistency in the HMIS software functionality. The Technical Support Policies and Procedures should contain:

- Instructions for accessing a HMIS help desk (if applicable)
- Processes for documenting issues experienced by projects, their resolution, and resolution timeframe
- Policies and procedures for elevating unresolved issues to the CoC or the data committee
- Protocols for interacting with the HMIS Software Vendor to resolve outstanding issues

It is recommended that the HMIS Lead ensure accessibility and transparency of the technical support policies and procedures by maintaining a HMIS-specific website or maintain HMIS-specific webpages as a component of the CoC's website for posting the policies and procedures, and related documents and tools to support end users.

The HMIS Lead should ensure accessibility to technical support by implementing a CoC-wide HMIS help desk or, alternatively, ensuring access to the HMIS software vendor's help desk. The HMIS Lead should ensure adequate staff is available to manage the volume of questions either as HMIS staff or through contractual assurances from the HMIS software vendor. The HMIS Lead should ensure there is backup coverage for primary help desk staff. The information technology industry currently recognizes one full time equivalent (FTE) help desk staff person per 75 end users as a best practice.

The Technical Support Help Desk should retain documentation and information related to the support it provides, and may also consider collecting customer satisfaction surveys.

Strategies for Technical Support

Technical Support Strategy: A holistic HMIS technical support strategy manages end user inquiries but also designs and manages project data entry workflows as HMIS participation grows. It can also act as a CoC-wide customer service channel on HMIS issues, such as providing support for increasing HMIS participation, data sharing, improving CoC data quality, and responsiveness to ad-hoc reporting. The HMIS Lead may choose to incorporate the following strategies to ensure accessibility and effectiveness of technical support activities:

- Build a knowledge base by posting training materials and Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) on common end user issues and their associated resolution
- Work with staff conducting training to ensure end users are regularly trained on use of the software and how to access the help desk
- Triage help desk inquiries to staff through automation and in accordance with staff specific skills and technical support focus
- Build canned responses for more efficient help desk response times
- Regularly review help desk inquiries for common themes, and update trainings to address these issues

Self-Evaluation: The HMIS Lead may also engage in self-evaluation activities to improve the technical support structure and policies. The HMIS Lead may choose to:

- Conduct an annual internal evaluation of technical support policies/procedures, including analysis of data on response times, types of questions, responses provided, etc.
- Conduct an annual customer satisfaction survey.
- Leverage an existing HMIS User Group or other stakeholder group to facilitate listening sessions and solicit feedback

Update Practices: The HMIS Lead may use an evaluation process to update technical support practices and negotiate contracts for services.

Training

The HMIS Lead is responsible for ensuring that the community's HMIS implementation is an effective tool for preventing and ending homelessness within the CoC. As such, it is incumbent on the HMIS Lead to ensure through training that all stakeholders and participants in the HMIS implementation have sufficient and adequate training to make effective use of the HMIS.

HMIS training is a core tool in ensuring the appropriate use of the HMIS by end users and in ensuring the availability of quality data for CoC decision-making. To that end, the HMIS Lead should conduct trainings for CHOs on the HMIS. The HMIS Lead should do this by developing and implementing a training plan and schedule, covering:

- HMIS Policies and Procedures
- HMIS-related Coordinated Entry System Policies and Procedures (CES P&P)
- Data entry requirements and techniques
- Workflows
- New agency set up
- Client confidentiality and privacy

- Best practices in data collection (i.e., person-centered, trauma-informed, harm-reducing, etc.)
- Data security
- Data quality

It is recommended that the HMIS Lead require completion of software, client confidentiality and privacy, and data security training prior to initial access to the software application and annually thereafter.

Strategies for Training

Accessibility and Effectiveness: The HMIS Lead may choose to incorporate the following strategies to ensure accessibility and effectiveness of training activities:

- Require training for new end users prior to collecting HMIS data or accessing the live HMIS database
- Require minimum annual refresher training by all users
- Make training available to data collection, entry, and reporting staff and data users such as researchers and analysts
- Create and post end user support tools, such as "At-A-Glance" quick sheets, checklists, workflow data entry guide, and visual guides
- Post the training calendar to the CoC and HMIS website
- Expect CoC program manager participation in the development of the training
- Customize training based on any given agency's data collection process: If agency staff collecting data from clients are different from the staff entering the data into HMIS, train intake staff on the data elements they are gathering from clients to ensure understanding of those data elements
- Develop a training attendance tracking system
- Offer less structured "office hours" sessions where end users can have their specific questions answered by those with HIMS expertise
- Incorporate a variety of training models to optimize training effectiveness and reach different audiences, such as one-on-one training, web recordings, scheduled group trainings, train the trainer, and the use of visual guides, user manuals, and supplemental resources
- Ensure training materials use plain language to ensure usability by those new to homeless services

Attendance and Funding Allocation: The CoC may choose to use HMIS training attendance as a consideration during resource allocation.

Training Calendar: The HMIS Lead should create a training calendar that is clear and transparent for the CoC and CHOs and is posted on the HMIS Lead's website. A training calendar should include different types of training opportunities, based on users (e.g., new user, review user, advanced user) and workflows (e.g., shelter, coordinated entry, entry/exit) offered at times that support the network of users (including evening shelter staff). For specific training topics and best practices, the HMIS Lead may benefit from the HMIS End User Training Guide.

Training Availability: An HMIS Lead's availability for training should be balanced with other roles and responsibilities. A training schedule should be flexible to meet both the users' and HMIS Lead's needs to balance other job duties.

Reporting

HMIS Reporting should be a major driver of CoC decision-making. The HMIS serves the CoC as a tool for understanding gaps in services, understanding community needs and the degree to which they are being met, understanding, and addressing racial disparities, coordination between organizations, and coordination of services to clients in a housing crisis.

The HMIS Lead should ensure that HMIS can generate *project-level* reports required by HUD and other federal funding partners, including HMIS CSV Exports for upload to (HUD) Sage Repository, (VA) SSVF Repository, and (HHS) RHYMIS Repository. Required progress reports and companion reports include: CoC APR, ESG CAPER, PATH Annual Report, and HOPWA APR.

The HMIS Lead should also ensure the HMIS can generate required *system-level* reports, including Longitudinal System Analysis (LSA), *formerly known as the Annual Homelessness Assessment Report (AHAR)*, the Coordinated Entry APR, and the HUD System Performance Measures Reports. Many systems also include reports to help with the submission of the Point-in-Time (PIT) count and Housing Inventory Count (HIC). The HMIS Lead should work with the CoC to ensure timely submission of these required reports in HUD's <u>Homelessness Data Exchange (HDX)</u>.

Strategies for Reporting

Manage Reporting: HMIS Leads may wish to pursue the following strategies to manage the reporting requirements of the CoC:

- Develop and maintain Data Analysis Policies and Procedures, including an inclusive and diverse stakeholder group involved in any analysis of HMIS data and how the quantitative data from HMIS is informed further by qualitative and contextual information
- Work through the <u>HMIS Lead Series</u> tools available with the CoC and other stakeholders
- HMIS Leads should develop and follow a reporting calendar, including dates and deadlines for reporting requirements and submissions
- Grant users enough access and training to run their own reports
- Build capacity to ensure designated resources for report design, data analysis, code review, training
 of data analysis staff, and training of end users and CHO leadership about HMIS reporting
- Set a transparent process for responding to custom data requests from local funders or foundations
- Make educational materials available for various stakeholders that explains what HMIS is as well as what can be reported from the system
- Organize reports so that end users can find them easily
- Include in the Data Analysis Policies and Procedures a style guide that prioritizes accessibility and specifies the ways in which data analyses should utilize accessible data visualization techniques such as using alt text, clear succinct titling and labeling, using color-blind-safe color palettes, avoiding small font sizes, etc.
- Outline a development cycle for custom reports based on the scope of the request, HMIS Lead staff capacity, code review and quality assurance time, and other demands. A development cycle can include phases that repeat as necessary, such as:
 - a. Planning & Design
 - b. Development
 - c. Testing
 - d. Implementation
 - e. Feedback & Maintenance
- Develop and follow a process for release of code, documentation, data, and reports that is included in the Data Analysis Policies and Procedures
 - 20

• Adopt a process for sharing report code or templates with other CoCs

Custom Reporting: Beyond the project-level and system-level required reports, the HMIS Lead should also ensure that the HMIS can produce other reports that can fill gaps in understanding and lead to better service for people experiencing homelessness, including the ability to disaggregate data by race, ethnicity, gender, age, and disabling condition, as well as intersections of these.

The custom report development cycle should be defined in the MOU or a Scope of Work between the CoC and HMIS Lead. When a request for a custom report is brought to the HMIS Lead, they should consult with the CoC to determine whether the request gets approved, the priority of the request over other work, and the timeline for completion of the request.

Examples of some custom reporting that CoCs may need are:

- Basic client counts at the client, household, project, project type, CoC, and system levels
- Inventory-based reports, such as Bed/Unit Utilization
- Project-level reports for emergency shelter projects available in HMIS for either Project Start/Exit transactions or Night-by-Night transactions (as defined by the workflow)
- Audit report requests (for CoC Governance, Project Staff, and Clients)
- Reports to help with prioritization for Coordinated Entry
- Reports to help the CoC with ranking projects for CoC Competition
- Duplicate client reports
- Data quality metrics to help target assistance to projects struggling with HMIS
- Performance-based reports that disaggregate data by race, ethnicity, gender, age, disability, and
 intersections of these to better understand disparities and inequities in the homeless response system

HMIS Leads should designate staff to participate in CoC data-related and other relevant committee meetings to better understand the CoC community reporting needs and provide baseline data in discussions of setting CoC performance goals.

Code Review Process for reports maintained by the HMIS vendor: The HMIS Lead should closely monitor and validate all reports that are generated from the HMIS software to ensure accurate report programming, project set-up, and system logic. A code review process should be included in the Data Analysis Policies and Procedures that specifies how the HMIS Lead is to verify and quality-control reports created and maintained by the HMIS vendor.

The HMIS Lead should report any issues to the HMIS software vendor as issues are identified and, if needed, also CoC leadership to pursue appropriate remedies available to the CoC or HMIS Lead in the HMIS software vendor contract.

Code Review Process for custom reports: Custom reports created by the HMIS Lead should be codereviewed by someone other than the person who created the report, either internally or by a third party. Often vendors will agree to review custom reports created in their system for accuracy, depending on the terms of your contract. As issues are found in custom reporting, the HMIS Lead should iterate through the testing phase of the development cycle until the report is finalized.

Documentation for Report Users: The HMIS Lead should maintain a documentation process for custom reports that includes what need(s) any given report fulfills, how the report is run, what workflow and data quality expectations must be met for the report to be meaningful, and what data is included in the report. Updates to any reports should be recorded in a changelog with dates the change was made available to users, a description of the change, and an explanation of why it was done. This documentation should be easily accessible by any user of the report.

Documentation for Internal Use (Reproducibility): Adopting a reproducible data analysis workflow is important for presenting credible and verifiably accurate data results. A reproducible data analysis workflow should include the following:

- Steps taken to run a given report are well-documented and include exact file paths, document names, document types of any data used, and/or reporting structure signifiers used
- Any actions taken between systems (if applicable), such as modifying a generated spreadsheet prior to connecting it to your data visualization tool
- Any further actions taken inside a data visualization tool (if separate)
- Commented code (if available in your data analysis tool(s))
- Version control
- May require a separate space for documenting various changes to logic over time for a given report or any version control utilities can be used

Data Analysis

The ability of a CoC to analyze the data entered into HMIS is critical to understanding what the data is saying and how it can inform the work done to prevent and end homelessness in the community. Data analysis is listed as an eligible cost of the HMIS Lead Agency under the CoC Program interim rule. When working with the HMIS Lead on data analysis, CoCs are encouraged to take into consideration the HMIS Lead's staff capacity and budget, as well as the scope of work in the HMIS Lead agreement. If the CoC uses a third party to conduct analysis of HMIS data, the HMIS Lead and CoC should ensure that the third party adheres to all necessary agreements such as the Security and Privacy Plan.

The HMIS Lead should work with the CoC to develop Data Analysis Policies and Procedures. This document would describe for a CoC how any data analyses are designed, built, and maintained.

Strategies for Data Analysis

Some elements the HMIS Lead and CoC should be sure are included in their Data Analysis Policies and Procedures:

- Abide by the <u>2004 HMIS Data and Technical Standards</u>, as well as any locally created documents (Privacy Policy, Security Plan, HMIS Consumer Notice, Client Consent and Release of Information) when explaining which entity is responsible for analyzing the data entered into HMIS and for what purposes that analysis will occur
- Ensure that reporting demands are addressed in the scope of work and contract and there is sufficient capacity and budget to support this work, where the HMIS Lead will be the entity to conduct data analysis
- Utilize existing tools such as Stella to help in data analysis
- Specify how and when demographics are included in any analysis (public-facing or not)
- Specify the lowest values allowed for a given grouping for purposes of de-identification (for example, "When displaying Race/Ethnicity data of values less than 10, display the following: 'Less than 10.'")
- Incorporate how and when the CoC will solicit feedback from a stakeholder group when analyzing data, including diversity in experience, identity, expertise, and perspective

In addition to the creation and adherence to Data Analysis Policies and Procedures, the HMIS Lead should work with the CoC and any other stakeholders, to:

• Ensure that any third-party evaluation of HMIS data is backed up by Data Use Agreements,

Business Sharing Agreements, and other relevant agreements and understand the role the evaluations are expected to play in the dissemination of data from HMIS for the purposes of analysis

- Work through realistic report development cycle timelines, accounting for code review and quality assurance time before releasing any results of data analysis externally
- Be sure that detail data represented in the aggregate is made available to users in a way that
 permits them to easily verify that their data is accurately represented in the aggregate
- Accept feedback from report users and allow for an iterative development process that includes responding to suggestions and fixing discrepancies

Combining HMIS Data with public data sets: While HMIS data helps form a useful picture of how a CoC serves people experiencing homelessness, the data is typically limited to how people interact with the homeless response system. Many publicly available data sets exist that HMIS Leads may incorporate into analyses, especially related to racial equity, housing stability, COVID-19, etc. Some examples are <u>census</u> data, the <u>CDC</u>, <u>data.gov</u>, <u>ArcGIS Open Data</u>, and HUD's <u>CoC GIS Tools</u>. Integrating this kind of data into analyses can help communities relate homelessness and housing to other systems and entities.

Data Quality

The importance of high data quality in HMIS cannot be overstated. If data quality is poor, the CoC cannot report accurately on their progress in addressing and ending homelessness, and they cannot accurately analyze the data in HMIS to make data-informed decisions.

Data Quality Plan: The CoC must review, revise, and approve a <u>Data Quality Plan</u> for the HMIS. As with the development of the privacy plan and security plan for the HMIS, the HMIS Lead is well-positioned to develop and implement a Data Quality Plan for the HMIS due to its ability to monitor data quality in real time in the HMIS.

Components of a Data Quality Plan: While not all data quality plans will be the same, below are the primary components of a comprehensive data quality plan:

- Introduction and level-setting
- Locally-defined benchmarks (generally by project type)
- Completeness
- Accuracy
- Timeliness
- Encouragements and Enforcements
- Improvement Plan
- Monitoring and Reporting

Strategies for Data Quality

Understand the Importance: The HMIS Lead should work with all stakeholders to help them understand the importance of data quality and why it matters. This can be done by:

- Ensuring that data quality is monitored on a regular basis
- Connecting the client back to the data quality and demonstrating how it may affect the client's ability to access needed services (e.g., through the Coordinated Entry System process)
- Including data quality in the CoCs rank and review process during the yearly CoC NOFO application process, as well as other competitive grant processes
- Make information on project-level and system-level data quality readily available to the CoC

Data Quality Plan: The CoC and HMIS Lead should create, maintain, and actively use a Data Quality Plan as an overall framework related to data quality as well as a Data Quality Monitoring tool that allows the HMIS Lead to document the data quality process. This plan should be reviewed annually and should evolve with the systems and data it supports.

Data Quality Monitoring Toolkit: The CoC and HMIS Lead would benefit from going through the <u>HMIS</u> <u>Data Quality Monitoring Toolkit</u> process to help them understand where they currently are in areas related to data quality, why they are where they are, and how to improve where they are. Using the <u>Data Quality</u> <u>Management Program</u> can also assist the CoC and HMIS Lead in addressing specific reasons they may be lacking in one or more areas of data quality, providing specific solutions and potential tools based on the "why."

Data Quality Reporting: While HUD publishes specifications for an "HMIS Data Quality Framework" that vendors are encouraged to create and maintain, this report is not intended to serve as the sole data quality report for an entire HMIS. Vendors often create more comprehensive Data Quality Reports that HMIS Leads can use. If your vendor offers a Data Quality Report that works for your CoC, it may be best to include that report in your Data Quality Plan as the report your users run to check their data quality. If neither the "HMIS Data Quality Framework" that HUD specifies nor any of your vendor reports are sufficient, HMIS Leads should create a custom report or set of custom reports for their users.

Some recommended features of project-level data quality reports:

- Succinctly named issues (e.g., "Old Outstanding Referral" instead of "Referral Date 30 or more days in the past")
- Guidance notes for each issue that tell a user how the error was likely made and what steps are needed to fix it or if there are times when the data may be describing a true outlier and should not be fixed
- Group the issues by importance (e.g., "High Priority", "Error", "Warning") and define them clearly to give end users a clear place to focus their efforts
- Include any data quality issues with any custom data elements required by the CoC or locally
- Real-time reporting (the report runs on current data or frequently refreshed data)
- Can be run on multiple projects at once
- Group household members together in any lists of Personal IDs so that end users can work on correcting issues on groups of clients together, decreasing the amount of clicking from record to record in their work
- Avoid false flags by using Project Type and Funding Source data as a condition for certain data quality issues to show. (e.g., "No PATH Contact Entered at Entry" is only required for PATH-funded Street Outreach projects)

Vendors or HMIS Leads may also want to build a system-level version of this report that gives the CoC some insights about where extra technical assistance may be needed:

- What projects are creating the highest number of High Priority issues/ Errors/ Warnings?
- What issues are present in the largest number of projects' data? (May indicate a training issue.)
- What issues have the highest frequency on clients across the system?
- What Coordinated Entry-related issues are occurring most frequently?

Encouragement and Enforcement: The CoC and HMIS Lead should think about both encouragements and enforcements in an overall **Data Quality Plan** framework to address both high-functioning and low-functioning end users and projects.

Data Integration

While HMIS data helps form a useful picture of how a CoC serves people experiencing homelessness, the data is typically limited to how people interact with the homeless response system. There has been significant interest in the ability to integrate HMIS data with data from other systems. While there are no requirements for data integration itself, HMIS data used as part of these efforts must adhere to established CoC, HMIS, and CE Policies and Procedures, HUD rules and regulations related to the collection, protection, and use of HMIS data, and state and local data privacy laws.

The HMIS Lead must ensure that data used in data integration projects is released in accordance with formal, written policies and procedures for the use of data and in accordance with the CoC's established privacy and security policies, including adherence to client consent (release of information) boundaries.

The HMIS Lead, in conjunction with the CoC, should establish a formal process for determining involvement in data integration projects and the provision of data to external entities for research. The determination protocol should include, at a minimum:

- A CoC policy related to the release of information to external parties
- A clear and transparent process for making decisions on the release of information for integration and research purposes
- A process to review privacy and security protocols (including client consents) to ensure data release complies with CoC and HMIS Policies and Procedures
- A process for notification to the requesting data entities of data release decision
- A process for notification to clients, if appropriate

The HMIS Lead should require contracts between data integration entities, to include, at a minimum:

- Purpose and business case use for the integration project
- Identification and responsibilities of each entity involved in the data integration
- Data use and disclosure restrictions
- Articulation of the data to be integrated
- Agreement on data stewardship and permissible access, use, and disclosures after integration
- Adherence to applicable CoC, state, and local data privacy and security policies and procedures, including client notification protocols in the event of a breach
- Data destruction and time limitations
- Protocols and procedures for termination of agreement
- Data breach protocols
- Use of reporting

Strategies for Data Integration

Engage the Community: As communities begin to think about HMIS data integration, the HMIS Lead and CoC should include a diverse group of people across race, ethnicity, age, gender, sexual orientation, and experience. HMIS data integration efforts should be in partnership with Black, Brown, Indigenous, and all people of color, as well as people with lived expertise of homelessness when discussing:

- Releasing data from the various data sets and where that data will be stored
- Data points that will be included in the integration, with special attention to any personally identifying client-level data
- Who will have access to the integrated data and who will be responsible for maintaining data quality, privacy, and security
- How the data integration data set will be used, by whom, why, and how it will benefit the clients served

Ensure Compatibility with Data Integration Projects: As HMIS Leads and CoCs begin to think about data integration projects, discussions should occur with the HMIS software vendor to discuss:

- The ability of the HMIS software to successfully work with data integration projects
- Any additional costs associated with a data integration project and building that into the budget
- The capacity of the HMIS software vendor to support a data integration project

Maintain Contact between CoC and HMIS Lead: As the CoC thinks about data integration projects, conversations should occur with the HMIS Lead to ensure:

- Sufficient budgetary and staff resources to support a data integration project
- A common understanding of the scope and timeline of any given data integration project
- How a data integration project may, or may not, affect end users and the data entered into HMIS